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Motions, Pleadings and ¥lilings

United States District Court,
N.D. Minois, Eastern Division.
Avery 1. STONF, as trust of the Anita M. Stone

Family Trust and Avery . Stone

Trust, PlaintifT,
V.
David DOFRGE, David Doerge d/b/a Doerge Capital
Management, and Balis,
Lewittes & Coleman, Inc., Defendants.

No. 02 C 1450,

Dee, 28, 2004,
Juris Kins, Floyd H. Abramson, Hillary A, Viglor,

Joseph €. Grayson. Abramson & Fox, Chicago, IL,
for Plaintiffs.

Nicholas P. Tavarone, Christopher L. Gallinari,
Bellows & Bellows, Ronald_Anthony Stearney, Jt.,

Meckler, DBulger & Tilson, Chicago, II., for
Defendants.

MEMORANDUM QPINION AND ORDER
&T.EVE, ]

#1 Plaintiff Avery J. Stone, as trustee of the Anita
M. Stone Family Trust and the Avery I. Stone Trust,
brought this  securitics fraud action against
Defendants David Docrge, individually and d/b/a
Duerge Capital Management, and Balis, Tewittes &
Coleman, Tne. Defendants have moved for summary
judgment. As discusscd in detail below, Defendanty’
maotion is granted in part and denied in part.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND
Plaintiff Avery Stone is the trustee of the Avery I.
Stone Trust and the Anita M. Stone Family Trust, (R.
72-1, Defs. Stmt, Facts § 1) Defendant David
Doerge ("Doerge") was formerly a registered
representative with Defendant Balis, Lewittes &
Coleman, Inc. ("Balis™), a broker-dealer. (Jd 1 4
2.3.) Defendant Doerge Capital Management is the
name of a former vnincorporated division of Balis, of
which David Doerge scrved as the head. (Jd 4 4.)
Stone made multiple investments on behalf of the
Anita M. Stone Family Trust and the Avery J. Stoue
Trust that Doerge had introduced and recommended

o him, (I 4 3.)

On April 6, 1996, Stone invested $100,000 in the
Asian Opportunity Fund, a private placement, on
behalf of the Avery I. Stone Trust. (/4. 1 24.} Doerge
sent Stone a Copfidential Information Memorandurn,
dated April 2, 1996, related to this investment. (1d
25.) The Confidential Information Memorandum
disclosed that David Doerge was a director in the
fund, and warned that "An investment in the Shares
involves certain risks relating to the investment
strategies 1o be utilized by the Fund, No puarantec of
representation is made that the I'und's lnvestment
Objective will be successful.” (2. 19 26. 27} Stone
lost his investment in the Asian Opportunily Fund.

On June 30, 1997, Stone invested $200,000, on
behalf of the Avery $tone Trust, in St James Capital
Partners, a limited partership. (/4 49.) Tn
connection with this investrent, Stone received from
Doerge a private placement memorandum, a Limited
Partnership Agreement and a Purchase Agreement.
(fd. 9 50.) Sronc executed and retumed to §1 James
Capital Partners the sighatute pages for the Limited
Partnership Agreement and the Purchase Agreement.
{(Id. | 51.) The Limited Partnership  Agreement
disclosed that the General Pariner had the "sole and
absolute discretion to invest in Investments or dircel
or indirect interests therein; provided, however, that
the General Partner will adhere generally to the asset
allocation guidelines of Bridge Loans, 50%; Short
Term  Convertible Debt, 25%; and Fquity
Invesuments, 25%." (/d. ¥ 52.) Further, the Purchase
Agreement contained a warranty that the Purchaser
nis able to bear the substantial economic risks of an
investment in the Interests for an indefinite period of
time, has no need for liquidity in the such investment
and, at the present time, could afford a gomplete loss
of such investment” and that the Purchaser
"recognizes that investment in the Interests involves
substantial risks, including loss of the entire amouant
of such investment (Jd. ¥ Y 53, 54) Other
documentation in connection with the investment
detailed the risk factors involved in an investment in
5t. James Capital Partners, including that "the risks
include, but are not limited to, complete loss of
principal or investment, lack of liquidity and high
volatitity associated with the stock of portfolio
companies and a very limited operating history." {Id.

155
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*2 On May 18, 1999, Avery Sione, on behalf of the
Anita M. Stone Family Trust, invested $500,000 in
Doerge Fortune Financial LLC ("Fortune"), a limited
liability company. (fd. Y 32.) Stone executcd a
Subscription Agreement and a Limited Liability
Company Agreement in connection with this
investment. (/. 9 33.) Stone also received a letter
from Doerge Capital Management disclosing various
facts related to Fortune and Fortune Financial
Systems, lnc., the company to which Fortunc was
providing bridge loan financing. (/. 34) The
Subscription Agreement informed Stone that any
*investment in the Intcrests is inhcrently speculative
in nature, and the undersigned may suffer a complete
loss of his investment.” (fd 9 33.) Stone has not
received any returh on this investment.

On February 29, 2000, Stone invested $2,500,000 on

behalf of the Trusts. The parties disagree over what
Stone invested in. Sione contends that Doerge
identified the investment as the "Doerge-TRUJ Bridge
Loan LLC," the purpose of which was to make a
securcd  shortterm loan to an  entity called
travelbyus.com, (R. 78-1, P1. Counterstmt. Facts §
15-16.) Stone further asserts thal Doerge told him
that the TBU "was guing to be borrowing money,"
and that the "TRU loan would be similar to other
short term secured loans that Doerge had previously
arranged for the Trusts.” (4. 19 17, 18.) Bascd on
Docrge's alleged representations, Stone thought that
Docrge had formed a limited lisbility company under
the name of Doerge-TBU Brdge Loan LLC, that
Doerge served as its manager, that the Trusts had
acquired a membership interest in it, that Doerge had
invested the Trusts in it, and that the company had
made a secured loan to travelbyus.com. (/. 9 23.)
On the other hand, Doerye contends that Stone madc
the February 29, 2000 investment in preferred stock
of Aviation Group, Inc. (R.72-1, Defs. Sunt. Facts 4
39.) On Aprl 24, 2000, Doerge Capital Management
sent  Stone  Subscription Agrecments, Investor
Questionnaires and 2 Summary of Terms for an
investment in Aviation Group. (Id. 9 40.) According
to Doerge, these documents which disclosed the risks
inherent in the purchase of Aviation Group stock,
were for the investments Doerge bad made in
February 2000. (I, 1T 41, 43, 44.) Stone disputes
this contention.

From March 2000 to February 2002, Doerge sent the
Trusts monthly statements  reflecting  their
investments in Doerge-TRU Bridge Loan LLC. (R.
78-1, P1. Counterstmt, Facts % 31.) The investments
in I'BU became a total loss. (fd. 9 49.)

Count 1 is premised on a violation of Section
12(a)(2) of the of the Securitics Act of 1933 (the
*Securities Act"), 15 U.8.C. 771(a)(2). [FN1] Count
Il alleges a violation of Section 10(b} of the
Sccurities Fxchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange
Acl"), 15 17.5.C § 78j(b). In Count 111, Tlaintfls
allepe a violation of Sections 13 of the Securitics Act
and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Count IV is premised
on common law fraud. Count V is a breach of a
fiduciary duty, and Count VI is a negligent
mistepresentation claim. In Count VLI, Plaiotff asks
fot an accounting,

FNI. Plaintiff agrees that summary
judgment is appropriate on his Section
12(a)(2) claim because it is time barred.

LEGAL STANDARD

®*3  Suymmary judgment is proper when "the
pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, it
any, show that there is no genuine issue as 1o any
material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a
judgment as a matter of law." FedR.CIv.P. s6(c). A
genuipe issue of triable fact cxists only if "the
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a
verdict tor the nonmoving party." Pugh v._City of
Attica, 259 ¥.3d 619, 625 (7th Cir.2001) (quoting
Anderson v_Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 1.5, 242, 248,
106 §.CL. 2505, 2510, 91 1. Ed.2d 202 (1986)). "Ounly
disputcs over facts that might affect the outcome of
the suit under the governing law will properly
preclude the entry of summary judgment.” Anderson,
477 U.S. at 248, 106 5.Ct. at 2510, The party seeking
summary judgmenl has the burden of establishing the
lack of any genuine issuc of material fact. Celotex
Corp.v. Carvett, 477 U8, 317, 322-23, 106 5.CL
2548, 2550, 91 L.Ld.2d 265 (1986). A party will
successfully oppose summary judgment only if it
presents "defimite, competent evidence to rebut the
motion."” EEQC v, Roehuck & Co., 233 F.3d 432, 437
(7th Cir.2000). The Court "considers the evidentiary
record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
party, and draws all reasonable inferences in hisz
favor." Lesch v. Crown Cork & Seal Co. 282 F.3d
467. 471 (Tth Cir.2002).

LEGAL ANALYSIS
I. Some of Plaintiff's Claims Are Time Batred

Defendants seck to dismiss DPlaintifl's  federal
securitics fraud and state law claims as time barred
under the applicable statute of limitations and statue
of repose.

© 2005 Thomsor/West, No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govi. Works.
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A. Vederal Securities Fraud Claims

A plaintiff must file a federal scourities fraud action
"within one vear afler the discovery of the facts
constituting the violation and within three years after
such violation." [FN2] Lampf, Pleva, Lipkind, Prupis
& Petigrow v, Gilhertson, 511 L8, 350, 364, 111
S.01 2773, 2782, 115 L.E4.2d 321 (1991). The one-
year statute of limitations for tederal securitics claims
begins 1o run when the potential plaintiff is put on
“inquiry notice.” Fufisawa Pharm. Co. v. Kgpoor,
115 F.3d 1332, 1334 (7th Cir.1997). "Inquiry notice
starts the running of the statute of limitations when
the victim of the alleged fraud became aware of the
facts that would have led a reasonable person to
investigale whether he might have a claim."”
Whiripool Fin, Corp. v. GN Heldings. Inc., &7 F.Ad
605, 609 (7th Cir.1995) {guetation omitted).
"However, more than ‘merely  suspicious
circumstances' must exist; instead the plainliff must
learn of a circumstance that places him "in possession
of, or with ready access to, the essential facts that he
nceds in order to be able to suc." " Kauthar SON BHD
v. Sernberg, 149 F.3d 659, 670 (7th Cir.199%)
(guoting Fujisowa Sharm, 115 1.3d at 1337).

FN2. On July 30, 2002, Congress enacted
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and expanded the
limitations period for securities fraud claims
involving "fraud, deceit, manipulation, or
contrivance in contravention ol a regulatory
requirement concerning the scourides laws”
to two years after the discovery of the facts
constituting the violation and within five
years after such violation. 28 UB.C.
1658(h). Because Plaintift filed this ¢ase on
February 27, 2002, the expanded limitations
petiod does not apply here.

The three vear statute of tepose commences from the
date of the violation. Defendants argue that the three
year stalue of repose bars the claims based on
Tlaintiff's investments in Asiap Opportunity, Triune
and St. James, The Court agrees. [FN31 Although
Plaintiff atlempts to keep these claims alive by
areuing thal the Court should toll the repose period
given Defendants' "aggressive and continuing cover
up" of the fraud, the Supreme Court has made clear
that “[tjhe 3-year limit iz a pcriod of repose
inconsistent with tolling.” Zeampf, 501 (LS, at 363,
111 §.Ct,at 2782, Further, "[blecause the purposc of
the 3-year limitation is clearly to serve as a cutoff, we
hold that tolling principles do not apply to that
period.” /4. 'Lhus, "[t]hc statute of repose for a tederal
securities claim may cxpire before the plaintiff

discovers the fraud." Neal v. Honeywell [ne., 33 F.3d
860, %65 (7th Cir.1994). Accordingly, Plaintift's
atiempt to rely on the tolling doctrine to toll the
statue of repose for their securities fraud claims fails.
As a result. Plaintiff's Section 12{2) and 10(b) claims
based on the September 1, 1996 investment in Triune
Venture Partners 111 LB, the April 6, 1996 investment
in Asian Opportunity Fund, and the June 30, 1997
investmenlt in St. James Capital Partners I.P are time
barred by Lhe statute of repose because the violation
it connection with these investments occurred more
{han threc years before Plaintift tiled this lawsuit.

FN3. In a tootnote, Plaintiff agrees that the
claitns regarding Asian Opportunity and
Triune "appear to be time barred.” (R. #0-1,
Pl. Opp. atpl5m. 12.)

#4 Because the alleged violation in connection with
the May 18, 1999 investment in Doerge I'ortune
Financial LLC and the February 29, 2000 investment
in the TBU Bridge Loan T.L.C took place less than
three years before February 27, 2002, the stamie of
reposc does not time bar these claims. Defendants
further argue that the claims based on these
investmenits are also barred by Lthe one year statute of
limitations. Viewing the facts in the light most
favorable to Plaintiff, as the Court must, the Court
cannot conclude that Plaintiff was on inquiry notice
by February 27, 2001. Accordingly, summary
judgement as to these claims is denied.

B. Swmte Taw Claims Based on the Securities
Transactions

Plaintiffs common law fraud {Count 1V), breach of a
fiduciary duty (Count V), and negligent
misrepresentation claims (Count VI) are based upon
Defendants' allegedly fraudulent sale of securilies,
thus they arc governed by the three year statute of
limitations petiod and a five year statte of repose set
forth in the Ilinois Securities Act, 815 ILCS 5/13(D).
See Tregenza v. Lehman Bros, e, 287 Nl App.3d
108, 109-11¢. 678 N.E.2d 14, 14-15, 222 Til.Dec.
607, 608 (1st Dist.1997). Although Plaintiff attempts
to characterize the breach of fiduciary duty claim as
not reliant on the fraudulent sale of securitics and
thus subject to & longer statte of limitations, the
Court rejects this attempt o recharacterize the claim
which Dlaintiff has pled in the Sccond Amended
Complaint and upon which Defendants have relied in
defending this lawsuit. Given the five year statute of
rcpose, the state law claims premised on the 1996
investments in T'riune and Asian Opportunity are
time barred. The Court cannot conclude, however,

@ 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.
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that the state Yaw claims based on the other
investments at issue in (his case arc barred by the five
year statute of limitations as a matter of law. Therc 18
an issue of fact as to when Plaintiff had actual
knowledyue of the alleged violation or when Plaintiff
had notice of sufficient facts which, in the exercise of
reasonablc diligence, would bave lead to actual
knowledge of the alleged violations. Accordingly,
these claims are not time barred.

II. The Elements of Plaintilfs Claims

Defendants argue that they are entitled to judgment
as a matter of law on Plainiffs claims becanse
Plaintiff bas tailed to prove certain glements that are
common to all of his claims. In order to survive
summary judgment on a claim for securities fraud
under Scction 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, Plaintiff musl
show issues of fact that Defendants (1) made a false
statement or omission; (2) of a matenial fact; (3) with
scienter; (4) in connection with the purchase or sale
of securitics; (5) upon which Plaintifls justitiably
relied; and (6) the reliance proximatcly caused
Plaintifts' damages. fn_re HeolthCure Compare
Corp., 75 1'.3d 276, 280 (7th Cir.1996).

A. Misrcpresentations or Omissions of Materiul
Facts

Defendants argue that the alleged false statements
are nol material statermnents of fact. In the context of a
securitics fraud case, a misstatement or omission is
material "if there is a substantial likelihood that a
reasonable shareholder would consider it important in
deciding how to vole." Hasic [ne, v. Levinson, 485
1.5, 224, *231, 108 8.Ct. 978, -—-983, 99 L.kd.2d
194 {1988). See afse Eisenstadt v. Centel Corp., 113
E.3d 738, 742 (7th Cir.1997). As the Seventh Circuit
has stated, " 'the determination of materiality requires
delicate assessments of the inferences a rcasonable
linvestor] would draw from a given set of facts and
the significance of those inferences to him, and these
asscssments are peculiarly oncs for the trier ol facg
thus a materjality determination is tarely appropriate
al the summary judgment stage, let alone on a motion
to dismiss.” Marks v. CDW Computer Covs,, Ine., 122
I3d 363, 370 (7th Cir.1997) (citations and
quotations omitted). Here, the Court cannot conclude
as a matter of law that the alleged misrepresentations
and omissions are not material.

B. Reliance

*5 Heliance is an element of a Section 10(b) claim.
In re HealthCare, 75 F.3d at 280, In lllinois, reliance

is also an clement of both common law fraud and
negligent misrepresentation claims, See Couxl Jron &
Metal Inc. v. U.S. Office_250 F.3d 570. 574 (7th
Cir.2004), citing Lidecker 1. Kendall Colfege, 194
I.App.ad 300, 314, 14] ITlLDec. 75, 350 N.E.2d
11211124 (Jst Dist.1990) (common law fraud).
Weisblau v, Chicago Bar Ass'n. 292 1N.App.3d 48,
225 WlDec. 993, 684 NE2d 984, 990 {1997)
{(negligent misrepresentation).

Defendants seek summary judgment on the arpument

that Plaintiff received written documentation setting
forth the nature of the risks inherent in each of
Stone's investments, and therefore Plaintift could not
have justifiably rclied on any wral statements that
preceded the written documentation. Defendants
contend that these subsequent written terms trumip
any oral statements regarding the investments.

1. Fortune

On May 18, 1999, Plaintifl invested $500,000 in
Fortune, a private placetnent offering, (f 32.) Stone
signed a subscription agreement for this investment
acknowledging that "[tJhere are substantial risks
incident to the purchase of the Interests, as explained
in the Investment Materials. An investment in the
Interests is inherently speculative in nature, and the
undersigned may suffer a complete loss of his
investment.” (R. 79-1, PL Resp. to Defs. Smmt. of
Facts Y 35.) In addition, Doerge Capital Management
went Stone a letter regarding Fortune. (fd. 9 34, 225
Ml.Dec, 993, 684 N.E.2d 984.) That letter indicated
the "company has experienced difficult times since
1997." {Jd, ¥ .38, 225 111 Dec. 993, 684 M.E.2d 984.)
Plaintiff does not respond to this argument regarding
his investment in Fortune. In his complaint, Plaintiff
alleges that Doerge represented to him that "this was
a safe bridge loan investment." (R. 70-1, SAC, Y 29.)
He generally asserts that "Doerge cxtolled his success
it developing this collateralized bridge loan program
stating "Tojur prime concern is satcty and payment of
principal followed by a strong yield usvally between
12-15%." (R. 78-1, PLCoumerstmtFacts, 4 13.)
Lven assuming that Doerge made this particular
statement regarding the Fortune investment, Plaintiff
could not have justifiably relicd upon it when he
contemporaneously  executed  a  subscription
agreement that informed him of the "substantial
tisks" involved in his investment "[Pleople claiming
to be victimy of securities fraud may not claim to tely
on oral statements inconsistent with  written
documents (even tedious prospectuses) available to
them.” S.E.C. v Jakubowski, 150 F.3d 675, 681 (7th
(:ir.1998) (emphasis in original). Plaintiff has failed
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to raise any genuine issues of material fact regarding
the reliance element of his investment in Fortune,
thus summary judgment is granted as o this
invesiment.

2. Doerge I'BU Bridge Loan

Defendants  also seek summary judgment on
Plaintiff's claim based on the Doerge 'I'BU Bridge
Loan under the same reliance theory. They argue that
Stone received, signed, and returned 1w Doerge a
Subseription Agreement which fully disclosed the
terrns of his investment.

*6 On Aprl 24, 2000--approximatcly two months
after Plaintiff invested-- Doerge Capital Management
senl  Stone  subscription  agreements,  inveslors
questionnaires and a summary of terms for securities
in Aviation Group. There iz an issue of fact as 1o
whether these investment materials pertained 1o
investments that Stone made in February 2000 or
whether they pettained o a new proposed investment
in Aviation Group. According to Plaintiff, in
February 2000, Doerge soliciled him 1o invest in the
Doerge-1BU Bridge Loan LLC to make a "secured
short-term loan to an entity called ravelyus.com.” (R.
78-1, R.Pls. Stmt. Facts 9 15, 16.) Defendants,
however, argue that the Fshruary 29, 20600
investment was in Aviation Group--the same
investment set forth n the April 24, 2000 investment
materials, Viewing these facts in the light most
favorable to Plaintiff, summary judgment is
precluded.

Fen it an issue of fact did not exist regarding what
investment  Plaintiff made in February of 2000,
surnmary judpment still is not warranted based on
Defendants’ reliance argument. Defendant did not
send (he materials with  the  disclosure  until
approximately two months after Plaintiff invested in
Doerge-TBU Bridge Loan LLC. Morcover, there is
an issuc of fact as to whether the investment
documents disclosed the truth, Asror Chauffeured
Limousine, Co. v, Runnfeldt Inyv. Corp, 910 F.2d
1540, 1545 (7th Cir.1990) (where a document is
silent as to the issues that plaintiff claims were lics, it
"does nol prevent action based on an antecedent
lie."). See alse Seqguel Capital, LLC v, Rothman, 2003
WL 22757758 at *16 (N.D.1IL Nov.20, 2003).

Defendants’ reliance on Rissman v Rissman, 213
F.3d 381 (7th Cir.2000) is misplaced. In Risman, the
Seventh Circuit held that a non-reliance clause in a
written  agrcement precluded a  plaintitt  from
premising  his  securities fraud c¢laim on  oral

statements made prior to the execution of the written
stock purchase agreement. Id. at 383-84. The non-
roliance clause in Rissman apecifically stated that the
parties had not relied on any other representations. In
contrast, the wrilten purchase agreements at issue in
this case did not contain any such provisions.

Similarly, Carr v. CIGNA Sec., Jne, 95 F.3d 544
{7th Cir.1946), does not provide otherwise. In Carr,
the Seventh Circuit affirmed the dismissal of a
securilies fraud suit where the defendant provided the
investor  with contemporaneous  documentation
clearly statng that the investment was risky, even
though the defendant allegedly orally stated that it
was safe. The Seventh Circuit held that "[1]f a literate,
competent adult is given a document that in readable
and comprehensible prose says X., and the person
who hands it to him tells him, orally, not-X ..., oar
literate, competent adult cannot maintain an action
for fraud against the issuer of the document.” /d. at
547, The Seventh Circuit noted, however, that "not
all disclaimers are clear." /4. at 548, Because there is
an issue here of whether the written invesiment
documents disclosed the truth and conflict with the
oral staternents, summary judgment is Inproper,

3. 5t James

*7 The securities fraud claim based on the 5t. James
investment is time barred, but the stale law claims of
common law fraud and negligent misrepresentation
remain as to the St. James investment. Defendants
argue that no issue of genuine facts cxists regarding
the element of justified reliance as to this mmvestmenl.
Plaintiff has failed to dircctly respond to this
argument. The Courl agrees with Defendants.

On Junc 30, 1997, Plaintiff invested $200,000 in St.
James Capital Pariners, L.P. He received a private
placement memorandum, a  Limited Partnership
Agreement and a Purchase Apgreement. e signed
and returned both the Limiled Partnership Agreement
and the Purchasc Agreement signalure pages (R.72-1,
Dets. Stmt. Facts 4 51.) The Purchase Agreement
discloscd  that "The Purchaser recognizes that
investment 1n the interests involves substantial risks,
including loss of the eatire amount of such
investment” ({d 9 54.) The Limited Partnership
Agreement diselosed that the general partner would
invest in bridge loans, short term convertible debr,
and cquity investments. In his complaint, Plaintiff
alleges that Doerge "held out St. James as a ‘safe
place' to invest and as an opportunity to realize
'greater-than-market' return at a 'lower-than-market
risk." Although Plaintiff has not addressed the
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reliance argument for this investment, even if Doerge
did make such a representation, it is directly
contradicted by the terms of the Purchase Agreement
which Plaintiff signed. Accordingly, reliance on any
such statements is not justificd and summary
judgment is granted as to the common law fraud and
negligent misrcpresentation claims based on the St
Tames investment.

C. Causation

Defendants argue that Plaintitf has failed 1o offer any

evidence of loss causation. In the securities fraud
context, lthe loss causation requiremcnt requitcs a
plaintiff o demonstrate that "the very facis about
which the defendant lied ... caused its injuries.”
Caremurk, Ine. v_Coram Healtheary Corp., 113 F.3d
645, 648 (7th Cir.1997). The Seventh Circuit has held
that "|tjo defeat [plaintiffs] claim at summary
judgment, therefore, [defendant] would bave to
establish that, as a matter of undisputed fact, the
depreciation in the value of the notes could not have
resulted from the alleged false statement or omission
of the defendant.” Id. Defendants have not shown that
"as a matter of undisputed fact” Plaintff's Joss "could
not have resulted from the alleged false staternent or
omission of the defendant|s]." 4. at 650.

IT1. Absence of Fiduciary Relationship

Delendants seek judgment on Plaintiffs claim for
breach of a fiduciary duty. In order to succeed on a
breach of fiduciary duty claim under Illinois law, a
plaintiff must establish the following elcments: (1)
the existence of a fiduciary duty: (2) a breach of that
duty; and (3) damages proximately resulting from the
breach. Romanck v._Connclly, 324 Il App.ad 3493,
404, 257 UlDec. 436, 753 N.E.2d 1062, 1072 (1st
Dist.2001). A fiduciary relationship may "arise from
the facts of a particular simation, for example, wherc
there is trust reposed on one side and resulting
superiority and influence on the other.” fn re Rstafe
of Rothenbers, 176 NLApp.3d 176, 179, 125 NI.Dec.
739, 741. 530 M.E.2d 1148, 1150 (1988). Under
Tllinois law, brokers who reccive fees or commissions
for excculing investment transactions can serve as
agents to their customers, and thus have a fiduciary
duty to lheir customers that is limited 1o actions
oceurring  within the scope of their agency. See
Martin v. Heinhold Commoditiey, dne, 117 11124 67,
7%, 109 Tll.Nec. 772, 510 N.E.2d 840 (1987); Irdex
Futures Group, Inc. v, Ross, 199 TILApp.3d 463, 475,
145 [LDec. 574, 557 N.E.2d 344 (Il App.1990). The
fiduciary duty for a broker varics depending on
whether he or she has discretionary trading authority

over the account at issue. "The duty of care owed by
a broker carrying a nondiscretionary account for a
customer is an exceedingly narrow one, consisting at
maost of a duly to propetly carry out transactions
ordered by the customer." Index Futnrey Group, 199
Il App. 3 at 475, 145 U Dee: 574, 557 NE 2 344.
Om the other hand, where an account is discretionary,
the broker is a fiduciary. See CI'TC v. Ieritage
Capital Advisary Servs,, L., 823 ¥2d 171, 173 (7th
Cir.1987). The parties here dispute whether Doerge
had discretionary trading authority, thus an issue of
fact exists and Lhis issue is inappropriate for
resolution on a summary judginent motion.

CONCLUSION
*8 As discussed above, Defendants' motion for
summary judgment is granted in part and denied in
part.

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2004 WL 3018173
(N.D.I1L), Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 93,093

Mations, Pleadings and Filings (Back to lup)

.« 2004 WL 2257536 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Defendants' Reply Memorandum in
Further Support of Their Motion for Summary
Tugment (Aug. 05, 2004)

+ 2004 WL 2257537 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Defendants' Response in Further
Support of Lheir Motion for Summary Judgment to
Plaintift's Counterstatement of Facts Pursuanl to
Local Rule 56.1(b)(3) (Aug. 05, 2004)

. 2004 WL 2257534 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Plaintiff's Response to Defendants’ LR
536.1{a) Statement of Facts Pursuant 1o Local Rule
56.1(b){(3) (Jul. 09, 2004)

- 2004 WL 2257535 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavir) Plaintiff's Memorandum In Opposition
1o Motion for Summary Judgment (Jul. 09, 2004)

« 2004 WL 2257533 (Tral Pleading) Answer and
Affirmalive Defcnses to Sccond Amended Complaint
(Jun. 03, 2004)

. 2004 WL 2257531 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Defendants' Motion for Summary
Judgment (May. 24, 2004)

+ 2004 WL 2257529 (Trial Pleading) Second
Amended Complaint (May. 20, 2004)
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+ 2004 WL 2257527 (Trial Pleading}) Amended
Answer to Amended Complaint (Jan. 29, 2004)

+ 2003 WL 23819714 (Trial Pleading) Answer to
Amended Complaint (Sep. 08, 2003)

= 2003 WL 23819711 (Lrial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Defendants' Reply Memorandum in
Further Support of Their Motion to Dismiss the
Amended Complaint (Tul. 21, 2003)

= 2003 WL 23819709 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Plaintiffs Memorandum in Opposition
to Motion to Dismiss Complaint for Tack of
Particularity (Tul. 14, 2003)

» 2003 WL 23819706 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Defendant's Motion and Memorandum
of Law to Dismiss Plaintiffs Complaint for Tack of
Particularity (Jun. 34, 2003)

= 2003 WL 23819705 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Alfidavit) Motion of Plaintff 13, Michael Mcycr
for Reassignment Bascd on Relatedness (Feb. 21,
2003)

= 2003 WL 23819703 (Tral Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Defendants' Reply Memorandum in
Support of Their Motion [or Stay or Continuance of
Froceedings Pending Appeal (Jan. 27, 2003)

+ 2003 WT. 23819702 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Plaintiff's Response to Motion for Stay
or Continuance of Proceedings Pending Appeal (Jan,
21, 2003)

« 2002 WL 32681542 (Trial Motion, Mcemorandum
and Affidavit) Reply Memorandum in Support of
Defendant Balis, Lewities & Coleman, Tnc.'s Motion
for Sanctions Pursuant 1o Rule 11, Fed R. Civ. P
(Jul. L1,2002)

« 2002 WL 32681537 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition
to Defendant Balis, Lewittes & Coleman's Rule 11
Motion for Sanctions {Jun. 27, 2002)

« 2002 WL 32681534 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Reply Memorandum in Support of
Petition by Defendants Balis, Lewities & Coleman,
Inc. and David Doerge to Compel Arbitration (Jui,
05, 2002)

+ 2002 WL 32681521 (1rial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition

to Defendants' Petition to Compel Arbitration (May.
30, 2002)

« 2002 WL 32681528 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Memorandum in Supporl of Defendant
Balis, Lewittes & Coleman, Inc's Motion for
Sanctions Pursuant to Rule 11, Fed, R, Civ. P. (May.
30, 2002)

+ 2002 WL 32681512 (Trial Pleading) Amended
Complaint (Apr. 0%, 2002)

+ 2002 WL 32681501 {Tral Pleading) Complaint
{Feb. 27, 2002)

. 1:02C V01450
(Feb, 27, 2002)
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Motions, Pleadings and Filings

Only the Westlaw citation is curtently available.

Umted States District Court,

N.D. lllineis, Eastern Division,
WACHOVIA SECURITIES, 1.I.C, a Delaware
corporation, Plaintiff,

v,

David NEUHAUSER, Andrew A Jahelka, Richard
(). Nichols, Leon A. Greenblatt,

111, Defendants.

No. (4 C 3082,

Nov, 5, 2004.
Christopher_ Scott Griesmeyer, Chicago, T1., for
Plaintift,

C. Philip Curley, Steven Pascal Gomberg, Gury
Irwin Blackman, Christopher Scoti Griesmeyer,
Robinson, Cutley & Clayton, P.C., Chizago, IL, [or
Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND QRDER
HART,J.

#1 Plaintiff Wachovia Securities LLC FN1

contends that defendants David Weuhauscer, Andrew
Jahelka, Richard Nichols, and Leon (reenblatt
[FNZ] misused Wachovia margin accounts opened in
the names of Loop Corp. and NOLA, 1.1.C. Loop and
NOLA are not defendants in the present lawsuit. The
Loop and NOLA accounts allegedly were being used
o surreptitiously obtain a controlling inmterest in
Health Risk Management, Inc. ("HRMI1"). When
NASDAQ discontinued trading of HRMI stock,
Wachovia was left with a $2,900,000 margin call that
has not been paid. Wachovia contends Loop and
NOLA were shell companies and that the Nenhauser
Individuals are liable for the unpaid margins either
directly or as alter egos of the two entities.

N1, Wachovia is the successor in inletest
io Prudential Secuntics Incorporated, which
will also be referred to as "Wachovia."

FN2, These four individuals will be

Page 1

collectively referred to as "the Neuhauser
Individunals."

Initially, based on arbitration provisions in the
margin accounts of the two entitics, Wachovia
brought an arbitration proceeding against the two
entities and the Neuhauser Individuals as well, The
Neuhauser Individuals then filed a lawsuit in the
Cireuit Court of Cook Counly, Hlineis in which they
sought a declaration that they were not bound by any
arbitration provision of the margin accounts and also
requested an injunction preventing Wachovia from
proccoding against themn in arbitration. The state
court lawsuit was removed to federal court based on
complete diversity of citizenship. In federal court,
Wachovia answered the removed complaint and also
filed a coumtercomplaint against the Neuhauser
Individuals in which Wachovia raised federal
securities law, state law fraud, breach of contract, and
alter ego claims. At a court hearing, Wachovia
subscquently represented that it would no longer
proceed against the Neuhauser Individuals in the
arbitration proceeding and instead would proceed
against them in this federal lawsuit. Wachovia
continued the arbitration proceeding as against the
two entities, The parties then submitted an agrecd
drall order, which was entered by the court. The
order dismissed the action that had been removed and
realigned  Wachovia as  plaintiff  with  its
counterclaims as the complaint_[TN3] Wachovia
thereafter moved the arbitration panel to stay the
arbitration as regards the Neuhauser Individuals.

EN3. The counterclaims will henceforth be
referred to as the "Complaint."

Presently pending are two motions of the Neuhauser
Individuals. They move to reinstate their original
action on the ground that Wachovia only stayed the
arbitration action against them and did not actually
dismiss it. The Neuhauser Individuals also move to
dismiss Wachovia's Complaint for failure to state a
basis for reliefl

Wachovia contends that it requested a stay so that it
could reinstate the arbitration against the Ncuhauser
Individuals in the event that, in the lawsuit, it proves
the Neuhauser Tndividuals are alter cgos of Loop and
NOLA. They further contend that a stay is preferable
to a dismissal becanse the Neuhauser Individuals may
be difficult to find for service in the event that it
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becomes nccessary to bring them back into a
dismissed arbitration proceeding. Statements that
Wachovia may later proceed against the Neuhauser
Individuals in arbitration, however, are inconsistent
with Wachovia's statements in a hearing in the
federal lawsnit. At a hearing, counsel for Wachovia
stated that Wachovia "will litigate in the district court
rather (han in arbitration.... So the issueg that would
have been raised in the arbitration will now be raised
in our counterclaim,...." May 24, 2004 1r. at 5. Tn a
further colloquy, the court stated: "Now, Lhe parties
can always waive arbitration, so that is okay. Dut if
anybody wants arbitration, you have to ask for it and
you have to make the appropriate motion [or it. And
you can [orego that and resolve the casc apparently
on the counterclaim, right?" Id at 6. Counsel for
Wachovia responded: "Correct, Judge. And the
arbitration will proceed as to other entities” /d.
Following the May 24 hearing, the parties submitted
an agreed draft order that was entered by the court.
The order included a representation by Wachovia that
it is "not proceeding with its claims” against the
Neuhauser Individuals in arbitration. Based on thesc
representations, the Nenhauser Individuals' removed
action was dismissed with prejudice.

*3 Wachovia makes no argument as o why the
federal action would be inadequate o obtain any
necessary relief from the Neuhauser Individuals. LF
Wachovia is successful in the present lawsuit, there
would be no need for further proceedings against
these individuals in the arbitration. Based on its prior
representations, Wachovia will now be expressly
ordered to dismiss the arbitration action as against the
MNeuhauser Individuals, Since that order will be
entered, therc will be no need to reinstate the action
of the Neuhauscr Individuals,

Wachovia's complaint contains cight counts labeled
as follows: (1) Common Law Fraud; (II) [Federal]
Securities Fraud: (11D Conspiracy to Commit Fraud;
(IV} Declaratory Judgment--Alter Ego (T.oop Corp.),
{V) Declaratory Judgment--Alter Ego (NOLA, LLC);
(VT) Picreing the Corporate Veil (Loop Corp.); (VII)
Piercing the Corporate Veil (NOLA, LLC); and
(VIID) Breach of Contract, Junsdiction is based on
both federal question jurisdiction over Count 1l and
diversity jurisdiction. Although some of the
agreements rclied upon have a New York choice of
law provision, the parties agree that [linois law
applies o the issues presently being raised regarding
the state law counts. The Neuhauser Individuals
contend all counts are subject to dismissal on a Rule
12(b)(6) motion,

Page 2

On a Rule 12(b)}6) motion Lo dismiss, plaintiff's
well-pleadad allegations of fact are taken as true and
all reasonablc inferences arc drawn in plaindff's
favor. Leatherman v, Tarrant County  Noarcolics
Intelligence & Coordination Unit, 507 U5, 163, 164,
113 S.CL 1160, 122 L1d2d 517 (1993); Dixon v.
Page, 291 1'3d 485, 486 (7th Cir.2002); Stachon v.
United Consumers Club, fne., 229 F3d 673, 6735 (7ih
Cir.2000). Ordinarily, a complaint need not set forth
all relevanl facts or recite the law; all that is required
is a short and plain statemnent showing that the party
is entitled to relief Fed R.Civ.P. 8(a}(2); Heim v.
Quranic Literacy Institute, 291 F.3d 1000, 1008 (7th
Cir.2002); Anderson v. Simon, 217 F.3d 472, 474 (7th
Cir.2000), cert. denied, 531 LS. 1073, 121 8.Ct
765, 148 L.Iid.2d 666_(2001); Scou v. City of
Chicage, 195 [.3d 950. 951 (7th Cir.1999).
Ordinarily, a plaintiff in a suit in federal court need
not plead facts; conclusions may be pleaded as long
as the defendant has at least minimal notice of the
claim. FedR.Civ.P. 8(al2); Swigrkiewicz v, Sorama
N4, 534 U8, 506, 512, 122 5.Ct 992, 152 T.Fd.2d
1 (2002); Scorr, 195 F.3d at 851, Albiero v, City of
Kankakee, 122 F.3d 417, 419 (7th Cir 1997); Jackson
v. Marign County, 66 F.3d 151, 153-54 (7th
Cir. 1995). However, to the extent fraud is alleged, it
must be pleaded with particularity. See [ed.R Civ.P.
o(hY; Stancy v. The Intersutional Amateur Athletic
Federation, 244 E.3d 580, 597 (7th Cir), cerl
denied, 534 U.S. R28, 122 5.C1. 649, 151 1.Ed.2d 35
(2001); Shapo v. (2 Shaughnessy, 246 F Supp.2d 935,
055-56 (N.D.H1.2002). Additionally, even if not
required to plead specific facts, a plaintiff can plead
itself out of courl by alleging [acts showing there is
no viable claim. See Slaney, 244 F3d al 397,
Kauthar SDN BFHD v, Sternherg, 149 F.34 659, 669-
70 . 14 (7th Cir.1998), cert. denicd, 525 U 3. 1114,
119 8.Ct. 890, 142 L.[d.2d 788 {1999); Jacksen, 66
Fadal153-54.

*3 Ordinarily, as long as they are consistent with the
allegations of the complaint, a plaintitf may assert
additional facts in its response to a motion to dismiss.
Brokaw v, Mercer Connty_235 T34 1000, 1006 (7th
Cir.2000); Forseth v, Vitlage of Sussex, 199 F.3d 363,
368 (Tth Cir.2000Y;, Albicre, 121 Fid at 419;
Ciutierrez v, Peters, 111 F.3d 1364, 1367 n. 2 (7th
Cir.1997). However, Rulc 9(b) requires that the
nceessary allegations be in the complaint itself.
Kennedy v. Venrock Associates, 348 F.3d 584, 593
(7th_Cir 2003), cert. denied, - U.S. —-, 124 8.Ct
1889, 158 L.Ed.2d 470 (2004); dbrams v. Fan
Kampen frunds, Inc., 2002 WL, 1160171 *2 (N.ILILL
Mav 30, 2002y Chicage District Council _of
Carpenters Welfare Fund v_Angulo, 169 F.Supp.2d
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BR0, 886 (N.D.UL.2001): tmplani Tnaovations, Tnc, v,
Nehelpharme A8, 1995 WL 362002 *5 (NI
Sept.14, 1995). Additional allegations contained in
the responsive brief, however, may indicate that
plaintiff should be given the opportunity to amcnd
the complaint to comply with Rule 9. See Ziemba
v. Cascade tneernational, fne, 256 F3d 1194, 1213
{11th Cir2001Y; Awmeulo, 169 F.Supp.2d al 886;
Implant innovations, 1995 W 562092 at *5. While
additional allegations contained in a responsive brief
are nol considered to be incorporated In the
complaint, documents that are referred to in the
complaint and that are central to a claim that is madc
may be considered to be part of the complaint even if
not aclually attached to the complaint. Rosenbium v.
Travelbyus.com Lid, 299 T.3d 657, 661 (Tih
Cir.2002); Puferco Steel Ine v, MYV KEalisti 121 F.3d
321, 324 1, 3 (Tth Cir 1997); Ventwre Associates
Corp. v, Zenith Daty Systems Corp, 987 F.2d 429,
431 (7ih Cir.1993). Where the document may
propetly be considered, the actwal document will
override inconsistent descriptions of the document
alleged in the body of the complaint. See Rosenfium,
299 I'3d at 661 (quoting 5 Wright & Miller, Federal
Practice & Procedure: Civil 2d & 1327 at 766
(1990%); fn re Wade 969 F.2d 241, 249 (Tih
Cir. 1992Y; Beam v, IPCO Corp., 838 T.2d 242, 244-
45 (7th Cir. 1988),

In the complaint itself, it i%x unnecessary to
specifically identify the legal basis for a claim as long
as the facts alleged would support relief. frorseth, 199

at 419; Bartholetr v. Reishauer A.GF, (Xurich), 933
E.2d 1073, 1078 (Tth Cir. 1992); Dodare v. Villuge of
Glendale Heighrs, 2003 WL 1720030 *8 (N.D.0L
March 31, 2003). The plaintiff is not bound by legal
characterizations of the claims contained in the
complaint. Forserh, 199 F.3d at 368; Kirkvev v. K.J
Revnolds Tobaceo Co., 168 F.3d 1039 1041 (7ih
Cir.1999), However, In response to a molion to
dismiss that raises the issue, the plaindff must
identify a legal basis for a clairm and make adequate
legal arguments in support of it Kirkver, 168 T'.3d at
104142 Strgnshy v, Cummins Ungine Co., 51 T.3d
1329, 1335 (7th Cir.1995); Levin v, Chifders, 101
F.3d 44, 46 (6th Cir.1996); Gilmore v. Southwestern
Bell Mobile Systemy, L. L.C 224 V' Supp.2d 1172,
1175 (N.D.OL2002Y; Carpenter v. Uiy of Novthlake,
948 F.Supp, 759, 765 (N.D.11L.1996).

*4 Rule ¥b) requires that "[i]n all averments of
frand or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud
or mistake shall be stated with particularity. Malice,
mtent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of a

Page 3

person may be averred generally.” The circumstances
of traud gencrally include "the identity of the person
who made the misrcpresentation, the time, place and
content of the misrepresentation, and the method by
which the misrepresentation was communicated to
the plaintiff." Slasev, 244 FAd at 599; Gereral
Electric Capital Corp, v, Lease Rexsolution Curp, 128
E.Aad 1074, 1078 (7th Cir.1997). A complainl must
outline the alleged misrepresentations and rcasonably
nolify a defendant of the specifics of the alleged
fraudulent  activity, including the particular
defendant’s role. Lachmund v, ADM  Investor
Services, Ine, 191 T3d 777, 782 (7th Cir.1999):
Goren v. New Vision International, Tnc, 156 F.3d
721, 730 (7th Cir. 1998); Midwest Grinding Co., Ine.
v. Spirz, 976 E.2d 1016, 1020 (Tth Cir. 1992); Ward
Enferprises, dne. v, Bang & Clufsen, 2003 WL
22859793 %1 (N.DJILDec.2, 2003y Gibmore v
Sowthwestern Bell Mobile  Systems, [.L.C, 210
FRD. 212, 224 (N.D.IL20G1). Fair notice is the
most basic consideration. Ficom, e v Farbridge
Merchant Serviees, Ine, 20 B34 771, 777-78 (7ih
Cir.1994): fn re Bridvestone/Firestone  Ine. Tives
Froducts Linbility Litipation, 2002 WI. 31680264 *8
(5.0.Ind, Nov 20, 2002); Gilmore, 210 FR.T). at 224,
Additionally, the requirements of Rule 9(h) may be
relaxed where the plaintiff roakes an  adequate
showing (hat necessary information is within the
control of a defendant so that particularized pleading
cannot be fully accomplished prior o receiving
discovery. See Emery v. American General Finance,
dne, 134 F.3d 1321, 1323 (7th Cir), cert. denied, 325
.5, 818, 119 8.Ct. 57, 142 [.Ed 2d 44 (1998).

The Neuhauser Individuals contend the Count II
federal securities fraud claim is untimely. This claim
i3 based on Section 10{b) (15 U.5.C. & 78i(b)) and
Rule 10b-5 (17 C.T.R. § 240.100-5). The Complaint
was filed on May 21, 2004. In (he Complaint,
Wachovia alleges that the NWevhauser Individuals'
"scheme came to light on or about May 21, 2001,
when the NASDACQ halted trading of the common
stock of HRMI on the news that the company's
independent auditors had resigned. At this time, the
stock declined from a prior day's close of $7.5 per
share to $4.75 per share.” Compl. Y 36. Accordingly,
Wachovia demanded that Loop and NOLA, and
eventually the WNeuhawser Individuals, provide
sufficient funds to satisfy the margin requirement. Id.
at 19 37-39. These demands going unheeded,
Wachovia "began to  explore polential legal
remedies." The Neuhauser Individuals contend ihat,
based on the facts alleged in the Complaint,
Wachovia was on inquiry notice as of May 21, 2001,
but did not raisc ils securities fraud claim until throe

@ 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.8, Govt. Works,



Case: 1:02-cv-05893 Document #: 298 Filed: 09/16/05 Page 15 of 41 PagelD #:5194

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2004 WL 2526390 (N.D.1IL)

(Cite as: 2004 WL 2526390 (N.D.II.))

years later. The Neuhauser Individuals further
contend that this is beyond the one-year discovery
period/three-year statute of repose that was in effect
for § 10(b)/Rule 10b-5 claims as of 2001, S¢e Lampl,
Pleva, Lipkind, Prupis & Petigrow v. Gilbertson, 501
175 350, 364, 111 S.Ct. 2773, 115 L.Ed.2d 321
(1991); Levitan v. McCoy, 2001 WL 1117279 *3
(NI Sept.21, 2001); Stauffer v. Westmoreland
Obstetric_and Gynecologic Awsociates, S5.C., 2001
WI. 585510 *5 (N.D.L May 235, 2001); Great Neck
Capital Appreciation Imvestment HPartnership, 1P, v.
PricewaterhonseCoopers,  LA.F. 137 F.Supp.2d
1114, 1125 (E.DWis.2001).  Alternatively, they
contend the claim is untimely under the two-year
discovery petiod/five-year statute of repose that
became elfective July 30, 2002, See 28 USC §
1658({b). Wachovia argues that the allegations of the
Complaint do not conclusively establish inguiry
notice as of May 21, 2001, It also argues that the two-
year period of § 1658(b) sapplies and further contends
(hat this period did not begin to ron vatil August 16,
2001, based on estoppel due to alleged settlemnent
negotiations  with  the  Neuhauwser Individuals.
Alternatively, Wachovia contends the filing of the
arbitration praceeding cquitably estopped the running
of the limitation period for the securities fraud
claims.

*§ Wachovia contends that when it was placed on
inquiry netice is a question of fact that canmot be
resolved on a Rule 12(b)}6) motion. Inquiry notice
that begins the running of the limitation period for a
secyritics fraud claim arises "when (ofien between
the date of occurrence and the date of the discovery
of the fraud) the plaintiff learns, or should have
learned through the exercise of ordinary diligence in
the protection of one's legal rights, enough facts to
enable him by such further investigation as the facts
would induce in a reasonable person to sue within a
year." Fujisawa Pharmacentical Co. v. Kapoor, 113
Ead 1332, 1334 (7th Cir.1997). Howewver, the
Seventh Circuit has rejected the proposition that, on a
motion o dismiss, allegations of a "conjunction of
optimistic [orecasts with a sharp drop in price
establishes inquity notice as a matter of law." LoSalle
v. Meden Rescarch, Ine., 54 F3d 443, 447 (Tth
Cir. 1995). See alse Law v. Medeo Research, Ine, 113
F.3d 781, 783 (7th Cir 1997); Abrams_v. Van Kumpen
Fundds, fnc._. 2002 WL 1160171 *10_(N.D.ILL May
30, 2002). Here, the relationship is cven more
attermiated becausc the Nenhauser Individuals were
purchasers of HRMI stock, not officers or directors of
the corporation who would more likely appear to
have control over the corporation or nonpublic
knowledge of events that could affest the stock's
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price. In addition to knowledge of the drop in price
that precipitated the margin call, some information
about the relationships between the MNeuhauset
Individuals, Loop, and NOLA, their percentage of
ownership of HRMI stock, and the cause of the drop
in value of HRMI stock was also necessary before
Wachovia would be oo inquiry notice. There 13 no
allegation in the Complaint that, as of May 21, 2001,
Wachovia alrcady had knowledge of all the HRMI
stock that Greenblatt controlled throngh accounts
with other brokers. Although, Wachovia alleges that
it began an investigation following the margin call, it
does not altcpe the precise dates that the investigation
began or when it learned particular facts, The
Neuhauser Individuals focus on the allegation that the
*scheme came to light on or about May 21, 2001."
Viewed in isclalion at face value, that conclusory
allegation supports that sufficicnt notice existed as of
May 21, 2001, The additional and more specific
factual allcgations contained in the Complaint,
hiowever, support only that May 21, 2001 was the
date the stock price dropped that resulted in a margin
call and ultimately further investigation, The
Complaint does not show Lhe precise date when
inguiry notice would be satisficd.

In response o the motion lo dismiss, however,
Wachovia concedes that its securities fraud claim
acerucd by August 2001. Wachovia contends that its
May 2004 Complaint is timely because the two-year
limitation period of § 1658(b) applies and il brought
the arbitration action in May 2003, Taking as true
that the securities fraud claim did not sccrue until
August 2001, the [otmer one-year statute of
limitation had not expircd prior to the effective date
of § 1658(h}). While the Neuhauser Tndividuals argue
that the enactment of § 1658(b) did not revive claims
for which the statute ol limitations had already
cxpired, see n ro Enterprise Morigaee Acceplance
Co. LL.C Securities Litigation, 295 F.Supp.2d 307
(8. DNV, 2003), they do not dispute that § 1638(b)
applies to sccurities fraud claims for which the
previously existing limitation period had not yet
eapired as of July 30, 2002, Therefore, Wachovia had
until August 2003 to bring its claim,

*§ The question is whether bringing the arbitration
action in May 2003 cquitably estopped the further
running of the limitation period. At the time
Wachovia brought its sceutities claims in this court,
the arbitration proceeding against the Neuhauser
Individuals was still pending. Wachovia relics on
New York Stock Exchange Rule 606(a) which
provides: "Where permitted by law, the time
limitation(s) which would otherwisc run or accrue for
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the institution of legal proceedings shall be rtolled
when a duly executed Submission Agreement is filed
by the claimant(s). The tolling shall continue for such
period as the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. shall
retain jurisdiction upon the matter submitied.”
National Association of Securities Dealers Rule
10307 is essentially identical.

Parties may agree to extend a period of limitation.
See Stephan v. Goldinger, 325 F3d %74, 876 (7th
Cie), cert, denied, 540 U8, 876, 124 5.Ct 227, 157
L.Ed.2d 1358 (20083). Thus, to the extent the partics
had an arbitration agrecment, the arbitration
proceeding that was institwted would have tolled the
limitation period during the pendency of the
arbitration proceeding.  Since  the  arbitration
proceeding was initiated prior to the expiration of the
limitation period and the claims were raised in this
court while the arbitration proceeding was atill
pending, the federal securities law claims arc timely
as long as there was an cnforceable arbitration
agreement. However, if there was no enforceable
arbitration agreement as against the Newhauser
Individuals, improperly naming them in the
arbitration proceeding would not have extended the
limitation time period for bringing a federal securities
fraud elaim against them. See Rampersad v. Deutsche
Bunk  Securities, Jne. 2004 WL 616132 *3-6
(S.D.N.Y. March 30, 2004).

The question is whether Wachovia has pleaded itself
out of court by alleging facts which conclusively
establish that all or some of the Neuhauser
Individuals were not patties to or otherwise bound by
any arbitration agrecment with Wachovia. Wachovia
attaches to its Complaint copics of Lhe margin
agreements that contain the arbitration provisions
relied upon by Wachovia, The Neuhauser Individuals
contend they were not bound to arbitrate any dispute
because the margin agreements were signed i a
representative capacity on bchalf of Loop and
NOLA. Additionally, Greenblatt and Nichols make
the point that they did not sign the agreements im any
manner whatsoever. ITowever, Wachovia contends
that the corporate veils may be pierced so that the
MNeuhauser Individuals would be dircetly liable for
actions of Toop and NOLA., A person who is not
otherwise a party lo an agreement cottaining an
arbitration provision may still be bound by the
agreement ta arbitrate based on piercing the corporate
veil, Furneticy (Hong Kong) Lid, v, Ouantum Growp,
Ine. 293 F.3d 1023, 1029 (7th Cir2002) (viting
American Bureau of Shipping v, Tencara Shipyard,
S4%4., 170 F.3d 349, 332 (2d Cir.1999)); Thompson-
C51 8 A v American Arbitration Associatiun, 64
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v'ad 773, 777 _(2d Cir.1995); Zurich American
Insurance Co_v. Cebeor Services Corp, 2003 WL
21418237 =4 (NI Jupe 18, 2003). Thercfore,
there is a basis for finding Wachovia's federal
scourities claim to be timely and Wachovia has not
pleaded facts that are necessarily inconsistent with
this theory. Since, the statute of limitations is an
affimative defense, it is sufficient that Wachovia
points oul a basis for there being a timely claim; it is
not nccessary for Wachovia to aftirmatively and
sufticiently plead these facts in its Complaint. The
federal scourities claims will not be dismissed as
untimely.

*+7 The Neuhauser Individuals contend the fraud
counts (Counts I, TI, and III} all fail becavse
Wachovia has not pleaded facts supporting that they
made any misrepresentations upen which Wachovia
relied to its detriment. Wachovia alleges that, in
Cctober 2000, Neuhauser opened a Wachovia
account it the name of Loop. Neuhauser represented
that he worked for Greenblatt, who conirolled Loop.
Greenblatt, Jahelka, and Nichols signed a statement
verifying that they wete the sole owners of Loop.
Between then and March 31, 2001, HRMI stock sold
for between $6.00 and $7.873 per share. By March
31, 2001, the Loop account included 225,000 shares
of HEMI and all margin calls had been met. Tn April
2001, HRMT stock sold for as high as $10.65 per
share. By the end of April, the Loop accoumt had
321,000 shares of HRMI. $160.000 in cash had been
paid to purchase $650,000 of HRMI stock.

In late February 2001, [FN4| Neuhauser opened the
NOLA account, using the same Wachovia broker as
for the T.oop account. The account for NOLA was
labeled as a partnership account and Neuhauser
identified as the general partner, "[a]lthough NOLA
is purportedly a limited liability company.” _[['N31
Compl. T 22. It is alleged that Neuhauser also signed
a document making him personally liable for activity
in the account and the documents arc attached as
exhibits. £ 9 23, When opening the account,
Meuhauser again disclosed that he worked for
Greenblatt. 1t is expressly alleged that, as of mid-
March 2001, Greenblatt worked directly with the
Wachovia broker regarding both accounts. As of the
end of March 2001, the NOLA account had 10,000
shares of HRMI valued at $69,380, with a $36,000
margin debt, In April 200}, the NOLA account added
an additional 143_500 shares of HRMI with a total
purchase price of $1,150,000 and for which less than
$200,000 in cash wag deposited in the account.

EN4. The Complaint (f  22) alleges
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February 2001, One of the attached exhibits
(F} is dated February 27, 2001 and Exhibits
E and T both have apparent fax notations
indicating February 28, 2001 in the top
margin.

FNS5. There is mo express allegation that
NOI.A actually is a limited liability
company nor is there any allegation as to the
gtate in which such a company may have
been formed.

In a Schedule 13D fiting dated April 5, 2001,
Greenblatt and his wife represented they controlled
30% of HRMI's outstanding shares, which included
holdings through other entitics in addition to Loop. In
an April 23, 2001 update, they disclosed that they
controlled 39% of HRMI stock. The Greenblats'
Schedule 13D filing alse included disclosure of a
standstill agreement that they would not acquire more
than 40% of HRMI's outstanding shares. The
Schedule 13D filings, however, failed w disclose
HRMI stock held in the NOLA account. Inclusion of
that stock in the April 23 update would have
disclosed  that the  (ireenblatts  controlled
approximately 42% of HRMI stock.

Wachovia alleges that NOLA was cstablished for the
sole purposc of being a vehicle to avoid detection of
the fact that the standstll agrecment and securities
regulations were being violated. It is also alleged that
the Wachovia margin accounts were used as a vehicle
o place the risk of (he investment scheme on
Wachovia. It is alleged that the purchase of a
controlling share of HRMI stock was intended to
drive up the price of HRMI stock and that the
Neuhauser Individuals "intended to use the buying
power generated by the price increase of the HIRMI
stock that they already owned to purchase substantial
additional shares on margin. The 50% margin
requirement contemplated by the regulatory bodies
and embodied in the margin rules for the purchase of
securitics was ignoted as the price rise in the stock
served a3 a smoke screen for the [MNeuhauser
Individuals'] purchases of HRMIL without cash.”
Compl. ¥ 43, The alleged misrepresentations to
Wachovia regarded (he related ownership interests of
the twa accounts and the intent 10 obtain a controlling
interest in HRMI, 7d. 4 50. Additionally, it is alleged
that, had Wachovia "known about the [Nouhauser
Individuals') intention to use Loop Corp. and NOLA,
LLC to surrcplitiously acquire a controlling interest
in HRMTI's shares--or had [Wachovia] even known of
the joint ownership and control of Loop Corp. and
NOLA, LLC--|Wachovia] never would have allowed
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the [Neuhauscr Individuals] to open their margin
accounts,”" 2. ¥ 33.

*8 On May 21, 2001, following the resignation of
HRMT's independent auditors, NASDAQ halted
trading in HRMJ stock. At the time there was 2 one-
day decline from $7.50 to $4.75 per share. In June
2001, Wachovia made margin calls of closc 1o
$3,000,000 and demanded payment from Loop,
NOLA, and the Meuhauser Individuals. None made

any payment.

Although Wachovia conclusorily alleges that the
Neuhauser [ndividuals hid the relationship between
the two accounts, specific allegations of the
Complaint are (o the contrary. Although Neuhauser
signed the documents opening the NOLA account, as
he had also done for the Loop account, it is expressly
alleged that he again informed the Wachovia broker
that he was working for Greenblatt. By "mid-March",
approximately two weeks alter the NOLA account
was opened, the Wachovia broker was dcaling
directly with Greenblatt regarding both accounts.
Although the SEC Schedule 13D filings omitted
Greenblatt's  interest in  the NOLA  account,
Greenblatt's interest in that account was not hidden
from Wachovia as well. Although inconsistent
pleading is permitted under the Federal Rules,
allegations of fraud must be specifically pleaded. See
Fed R.Civ.P. 9(b). The specific allegations control
over the conclusory aflegation that Greenblatt's
intercst in the NOLA account wag hidden from
Wachovia, See Thomas v, Farley, 31 I'.3d 557, 558~
59 (7th Cir.1994): Periman v. Zell, 938 F.5upp. 1327,
1347 (N.DL1996), affd 185 F3d 850 (7th
Cir.1999). Since the relationship between the two
accounts was disclosed to Wachovia, the traud claims
cannot be based on the failure to disclose the
relationship.

Wachovia argues that Neuhauser's representation
that he was NOLA's general partner was {randulent.
Even assuming this was a false representation, [FNG]
there is no allegation that Wachovia detrimentally
relicd on this false rcpresentation. Reliance on a
traudulent stalement is a neccssary element of
Wachovias fraud claims. Hefferman v. Beard of
Trustees of Mlinois Community College Dist. 508,
310 F.3d 522, 526 (7th Cir2002); Rissman v,
Rissman, 213_[3d 381, 383 (7th i), cert,
dismissed, 531 11.8. 987, 121 8.Ct. 508, 148 L.[d.2d
450 (2000). Even assuming NOLA i3 actually a
limited liability company, Wachovia dees not allege
where it was incorporated so the potcntial liability of
the mentbers cannot be determined. Ordinarily,
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members of a limited liabilily company are like
limited partners of a parinership. Unlike a general
partner regarding debts of the partnership, members
ol a limited liahility company generally are not lizble
for thc debts of the company. See Cosgrove v,
Beprofonta, 150 F3d 729, 73] (7th Cir.1998), See,
eg., 805 ILCS 180/10-10. So being a general partner
could be materially different from being a member of
a limited liability company. However, there is no
allegation that Wachovia relied on Neubauser's
personal creditworthiness in permitting the NOLA
account to be opened. There is no allegation that
Wachovia investigated Neuhauser's credit or that it
would have investigated NOLA's financial condition
had it known MNeuhauser was only a member of a
limited liability company. Moreover, Neuhauser
signed a document promising to personally pay
Habilitics on the account, so Wachovia had the same
protection that it would have had even if Neuhauser
had been a general partner. [FN7] The allegations do
not support that Wachovia would have acted
differently, that is not open the account, had it known
NOLA was not a partnership with Neuhauser as a
general partner, Therefore, the reliance requirement
cannot be satisfied regarding this aspect of the
alleged frand.

EN6. There is no allegation that NOLA
actually was a limited liability company
instead of a general partnership, only an
allegation that NOLA "purportedly is a
limited liabilily company.” Compl. 9| 22.

ENT. As is discussed regarding Count VIIL,
though, Neuhauser contends any documents
he signed were in a representative capacity.
That would require consideration of facts
outside the Complaint.

*0 Wachovia also arpues that itz fraud claims are
based on the alleged failure to disclose that the
Weuhauser Individuals were attempting to gain
control of HRMI and drive up the price of its stock in
violation of federal securities law._[TN8&] Wachovia
relies on two different theories to support that this
constitutes  fraud, One is that the Neuhauser
Individuals had a duty to disclose their intentions.
The other is that this intention was inconsistent with
the representation in the Loop margin agreement that
they would "conduct [the] account in accordance with
all applicable laws or regulaidons.” Compl. Exh. B Y
4,

FNE  Although the Complaint containg

allegations  as w0 misrepresentations
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contained in the Schedules 13D, Wachovia
does not dispute that there is no allepation
that il saw the Schedules or relied on the
misrepresentations contained therein.

As to the Neuhauser Individuals' duty to disclose,
Wachovia contends there was such a duty because
the parties were in a fiduciary relationship. The
Meuhauser Individuals agree that, under linois law,
a fiduciary generally has a duty to disclose and that
the broker-client relationship s a fiduciary
relationship, at least to the extent that the broker is
giving nondiscretionary investment or financial
advice and not just executing transactions dirccted by
the client. See Carr v. Cigna Securitics, fpg,, 95 F.3d
344, 347 (7th Cir.1996). There is no allegation in the
Complaint that Wachovia provided any investment
advice regarding the Loop and NOLA accounts. But
even assuming the existence of a  {iduciary
relationship, it i« the broker (Wachovia) that iz the
fiduciary, not the clients (the Nevhauser Individuals).
Wachovia points to no case holding that the client in
such a relationship also has a duty to disclose
Wachovia has not alleged a cognizable [raudulent
concealment claim.

Wachovia's other contention is that the Neuhauser
Individuals Gaudulently violated their contractual
promise to obey securities laws and regulations. This
is a promissory fraud claim, that is, "a false
representation of intent regarding future conduct,
such as a promise to perform a contract when there is
no actual inlent to do g0." Louben v Felular Corp.,
231 _E.3d 1066, 1074 (7th Cir.2000). Illinois law
recognizes such a fraud claim. See id. Promissory
[rand can also be a basis for a § 10{b)}/Rule 10b-5
claim., Hurns v. Paddock, 503 F.2d 18, 22-23 (Tth
Cir. 1974y, Snap-On Ine. v, Orriz, 1999 W1, 592194 *
7 & n 4 (NILL Aug.d, 1999); Grove v, (ilman
Securitics, Inc, 1996 WL 18893 *2 (N.ID.11, Jan.17,
1996); Thompson ex rel Thorp Family Charitable
Remainder Unitrust v, Federico,_ 324 F.8upp.2d
1152, 1162-63 (D0 .Cwre 2004}, The Nenhauser
Individuals contend such a claim is not contained in
the Complaint itself, only argued in Wachovia's brief,
which would not satisfy Rule 8(h). However, It is
alleged in the Complaint that, at the time the L.oop
account was opened, the Neuhauser Individuals
intended to use the account in a scheme to obtain
contral of HRMI, a scheme that was in violation of
seourities laws and regulations, and that they hid this
mtention from Wachovia. I s also alleged that, had
Wachovia known the Neuhauser Individuals were
involved in this scheme, they would not have
permitted them to use the account. While the body of
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the Complamt does not expressly refer to promissory
fraud or the promisc not to violate laws, the margin
agreement containing the promise is expressly
referenced in the body of the Complaint and is
attached as an exhibit. The facts supporting
promissory fraud are alleged in the Complaint even if
the theory is not expressly stated. Promissory frand is
sufficiently raised,

*10 Although it is a recognized basis for a fraud
claim, promissory fraud claims are disfavored. Bower
v Jenes, 978 F.2d 1004, 1012 (7th Cir,1992);
Association Benefit Services, Inc. v, AdvancePCS
Holding Corp., 2004 WL 2101928 *1 (N.D.IIL
Sept.21, 2004). The Seventh Circuit has cautioned
against transforming every breach of contract inlo a
claim of frond, Consolidation Services, Ine v
KeyBank National Assoctation, 185 [3d 817, 823
(7th Cir. 1999); Desnick v. American Sroadeasting
Cos, 44 F3d 1345 1354 (7ih Cir 1995
AdvancePCS, 2004 WT. 2101928 at *1. T'o protect
against this, promissory fraud claims will only be
permitted to proceed if they are alleged to be part ol a
scheme to defraud, that is part of a pattern of
fraudulent acts. Speakers of Sport, fne. v.. ProServ,
Tne, 178 F3d 862, 866 (7th Cir 1999Y; AdvancePCS
2004 WL 2101928 al *2. |I'NY| Here, Wachovia has
alleged other fraudulent acts besides the alleged false
promise to obey the law., Wachovia has specifically
alleged  False  representations contained in  the
Schedules 13D, Also, Wachovia has alleged that the
Meuhauser Individuals also used accounts at other
brokers to cxccute the scheme. Wachovia has
sufficiently alleged promissory fraud based on
promising to cngage in legal iransactions at the time
the Loop margin accounl was opened even though
the Neuhauser Individuals had the then-present intent
to violate securities laws and regulations. Contrary to
the Neuhauser Individuvals' contention, Wachovia's
allegations more than adequately satisfy Rule 9(b)'s
particularity requirement regarding pleading cach
individual's participation and role in the scheme. CF
Dupran v, Terzukiy, 275 FSupp.2d 968, 973

{N.D.111.2003).

ENO. The cases relied upon for this standard
all involve the application of Tlinois law.
Since the promissory fraud allegations are
not being dismissed, it may be assumed for
present purposes that the federal securities
claims must also satisfy this standard.

Wachovia also argues thatl it can pursue a promissory
fraud theory bascd on the Neuhauser Individuals'
promise to pay any margin calls even though they
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had no such intent at the time the accounts were
opened, The problem with this contention is that the
Complaint containg no allegation that the Neuhauser
Individuals had an intent not to pay at the time eithcr
of the accounts were opened and the margin
agreements signed.

Wachovia's Count L, LI, and IIT fraud claims will be
dismissed except to the extent they are based on the
alleged  promissory  fraud of the Neuhauser
Individuals that, at the time of opening of the Loop
account, they would not usc the account for
iransactions that would violate securities laws and
regulations.

The Neuhauser Individuals contend the allegations
regarding piercing the corporate veil and alter ego
and do not satisfly the particularity requirement of
Rule 9{b). Their first contention is that these claims
cannot be pursued until Loop and/or NOLA are first
found liable and unable to pay a judgment. The cases
relied on by the Neuhauscr Individuals do not suppaort
that proposition. dmerican Sociefy of Contemporary
Medicine, Swrgery & Ophihalmology v.  Murray
Communications, Inc., 547 F.Supp. 462, 466 & n. ¥
(N.D.IIL1982), concerns whether it was appropriate
to bring a fraudulent inducement claim prior 1o the
plaintiff suffering a detriment through a breach of
contract by a third party; the case does not discuss
when it is appropriate to bring a piercing claim,
International Financiad Services Carp, v, Chromus
Technologies, Canada, Inc, 356 F3d 731, 735-30
(7th Cir.2004), holds that an Illinois picreing the
corporate veil elaim is an equitable claim for the
court, not a jury. It does not hold that the piercing the
corporate  veil claim could not be raised in the
complaint until after the corporation was first found
liable and unable to pay a judgment. All it indicates
on the timing issue is that the jury issues should be
tried first so that the court accords proper deference
to the right to have a jury determine the facts for the
related legal claims. See id. at 737-38. Similarly, the
quoted general principle trom fr re Rehabilitution of
Centunr Insurance Co., 138 111.2d 166. 198 Tll.Dec.
404, 632 NE.2d 1015, 1018 (19%4) (quoting 1 W.
Fletcher, Private Corporations § 41.10 at 615 (rev.
ed. 1990)) ("The corporate form may be disregarded
only where equity requires the action to assist a third
party."}, does not address the question of when a
piercing claim is ripe for adjudication. It simply
states a neccssary element of the piercing claim. A
plaintiff may prove that a corporation will not be able
to make good on a debt without first successfully
bringing a separatc lawsuil against the corporation
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and waiting for that judgment to go unpaid. No case
has been found which supports the Neuhauser
Individuals' contention that a piercing claim is not
ripe until a separate lawsuit is first brought and fully
adjudicated as against the corporation that is being
pierced.

FN10. These claims will be referred o
joinlly ax "piercing claims.”

*11 The Neuhauser Individuals' other contention is
that the piercing allegations do not satisfy the
requirements of Rule 9(b). Rule 9(h), howevet,
generally does not apply Lo plercing allegations. See
United States ex rel Bidani v, Lewis, 1999 WL
163053 *2 (N.DLIEL March 12, 1999): Aruse v
Aamed, Inc., 1997 WL 102528 *4 (N.D.1l. March 4,
1997y Chicago  District Council  of Carpenters
Pension Fund v, Ceiling Wall Systems, fne., 915
F.Supp. 939 942 (N.D.IL1996); Francosteel Corp.
v. National Mdustries, fne, 1991 WL, 166732 *1-2
(N.LTIL. March 16, 1991}, But see D 5
Cement Masong Fund, Local 302 v. £ & V Cement
Comtractors, Ine., 2004 WL 765368 *3 (N.D.L
April 7. 2004); New Lreedom Mortyave Corp. v, C &
B Mortgage Corp., 2004 WL 783206 *8-4 (N.D 1L
Jan 15, 2004Y: Iyvpo praphics Flus, Ine. v, LM,
Eastradu & Co., 2000 WL 1006572 *4 (N.D UL July
19 2000). Lo the extent fraud iz a necessary element,
however, the fraud muast be alleged with particularity.
See fidani, 1999 WL 163053 at *2. Here, Wachovia
primarily alleges that Loop and NOLA were not
adequately funded, were not ireated as distinet
entities, and corporale regularities were not followed.
1'M11] These aspects of the piercing claima need not
be alleped with particularity. To the extent the
fraudulent scheme is a necessary element of the
piercing claims, as previously discussed, Wachovia
has adequately alleged a scheme to violate the
securities [aws and the promissory fraud claim that is
not being dismissed. The piercing claims will not be
dismissed for failure to plead with adequate
specificity.

FNII, If NOLA is an Illinois limited
liability company, iollowing company
formalities would not be pertinent to
piercing its veil. See 805 ILCS 180/10-10(c).

Count VIII is a eclaim for breach of contract.
Wachovia alleges the margin agreements for both
accounts were breached when the margin calls were
not paid. I iz alleged that all the Neuhauser
Individuals are liable [or the breaches based on the
piercing doctrines.  Additionally, it is alleged that

es of
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Neuhauser is liable for the margin call on the NOLA
account because he personally promised to pay any
margin call, Compl.-f 97.

The Neuhauser Individuals do not contend that the
breach of the margin agreements is not adequatcly
alleged. They only argue that their personal lighility
for any such breach is not adequately alleged. As
previously  discussed, the piercing claims are
adequately alleged so Count VIII may continue as to
all the Neuhauser Individuals,

Additionally, Neuhauser contends that the
allegations that he iz liable based on his personal
promise does not state an alternative basis for relief.
Neuhauser focuses on  the partnership account
agreement (Compl.Exh. E), a document he signed
and in which he represented he was the general
pariner of NOLA. He contends that he cannot be
personally liable based on that agreement because
NOLA is a limited lability company, not a
partnership, and members of a limited liability
company arc nol lisble for the company's debis.
Wachovia relies, in part, on 505 ILCS 205/16(1),
which provides in part: "When a person, by words
spaken or written or by conduct, represents himself,
or cotisents to another representing him to any one, as
A partner in an existing partnership or with one or
more petsons 1ot actual partners, he is liable to any
such person to whom such representation has been
made, who has, on the faith of such representation,
given credil to the actual or apparent parmership,...."
MNeuhauser contends he cannot be liable based on §
16(1) because "LLC" in NOLA's name made clear
that it was a limited Lliability company, not a
partnership. He also contends that it was evident
there was no partnership because it is alleged he
tepresented that he worked for Greenblatt and
because he was the only one signing the parinership
form and a partnership cannot consist of just one
partner. Neuhauser also contends that the delrimental
reliance necessary for lability under the statute ix not
alleged.

*12 First, Neuhauser ignores that he also signed the
MNOLA opening margin agreement {Compld| 23,
Exh. F) in which he promiscd to pay any margin call.
See id. Exh, F 9 4. There is nothing on that form
indicating that he signed it in a represenlative
capacity only. To the extent he did sign it in a
representative capacity only, he would have to rely
on evidenee outside the allegations of the Complaint
to make such a showing, The allegations of 9 23 and
Exhibit ¥ are a sufficient alternative basis for finding
MNeuhauser personally liable for any margin call due
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tor the NOL.A account.

Even if the partnership account agreement remained
the only basis for {inding MNeuhauser liable, these
allegations statc a basis for relief. [t is alleged that
NOT.A "purportedly” is a limited liability company.
There is no allegation that NOLA aclually is a limited
liability company, The fact that LLC ix in NOLA's
name does not necessarily make it a limited liability
company. In Illinois, and likely other states, a limited
liability company does not come into existence until
it acwally files its articles of incorporation. See B3
TILCS 180/5-40(a). Tf articles of incorporation were
never filed, WOT.A may have been a de fucto
partnership, Also, the partnership account agreement
does not state that Nevhauser is the only pariner. 1t
only states that Neuhauser is thc gencral partner.
Other parmers may have been limited pariners who
would not have to be listed on the form. Although
Neuhauser stated that he worked tor Greenblatt, it is
still possible that he would be a general partner for a
partnership related to other Greenblatt controlled
entitiecs, The Complaint does not allege facts
inconsistent with Wachovia reasonably belicving that
NOI.A was a partnership. Also, the allegations of the
Complaint  are  distinguishable from  Longwiew
Alwminum, LL.C v Industrial Crenerel DL C. 2003
WIL 21518385 (N.DJIIL  July 2. 2003), which
Neuhauser contends is "squarcly on point.” Unlike
Neuhauser's signing of a form thal expressly used the
term partnership, there was no representation in
Longview thal the pertinent entity was a partnership.
Sec i at *4, Il is true, as Neuhauser contends, that
liability under § 16(1) requires detrimental reliance
on Wachovia's parl. See Lomgview, 2003 WL
21518583 at *4. As previously discussed regarding
the fraud claima, Wachovia has not specifically
alleged reliance on the representation that Neuhauser
is a partmer. Rule 9(h}, however, does not apply to the
Count VIII breach of contract claim.

Wachovia has sufficiently alleged that Neuvhauser is
liable for the NOLA margin call based on both the
partnership account agreement and the opening
margin  agreement. As to all the Weuhauser
Individuals, Wachovia has adequately alleged that
they are liable for the Loop and NOLA margin calls
based on piercing theories. Count VIIT will not be
dismisaed in any part.

IT 18 THEREFORE QRDERED thal the Neuhauser
Individuals' motion to reinstate their complaint [6]
and motion to dismiss Wachovia's cormplaint [9] are
granted in part and denied in part. Within 15 days,
Wachovia shall file a motion in New York Stock

Page 10

Exchange arbitration Procceding  2003-011927
requesting that the claims in thal proceeding as
against the Neuhauser Individuals be dismissed
without prejudice. Counts 1. 11, and 11 of Wachovia's
complaint are dismissed exccpt to the extent they
include a claim for promissory fraud based on the
Neuhauser Individuals' contractusl promise that they
would use the Loop account for lawful transactions.
Within 15 days, the Neuhauser Individuals shall
answer the remaining allegations of Wachovia's
complaint. All discovery is to be completed by
February 27, 2005, Status hearing will be held on
December 8, 2004 at 11:00 am.

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2004 WL 2526390
(N.DIILY
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= 2004 WL 2817486 (Trial Motion, Memorandum
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« 2004 WL 2817476 (Trizl Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Wachovia Sccurities, LLC's Response
Brief in Opposition to Defendants’ 12(b){(6) Motion to
Dismiss Complaint (Tul. 21, 2004)

+ 2004 WL 2817467 (Tnal Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Reply Bricf in Support of Defendants'
Motion to Reinstate Complaint (Jun, 28, 2004)

+ 2004 WI. 2817459 (lrial Motion, Memorandum
and Affidavit) Wachovia Securities, LLC's Response
Brcf in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to
Reinstate Complaint (Jun. 16, 2004)
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Maotlons., Pleadings and Filings

United 5tates District Court,

N.D. Illingis, Fastern Division.
ZURICII CAPTTAL MARKETS INC., et al.,
Plaintiffs,

V.

Michael COGLIANESE, ct al_, Defendants,
Na., 03 C 7960,

Sept. 23, 2004,

David P. Sanders, Terence George Banich, I
Chadwick ©. Brooker, Jenner & Block, LLC,
Chicago, IL, Philippe Z. Selendy, Alan B. Vickery,
Stephen A. Larson, Frank C. Moorg, 111 [PhV],
lloward Vickery, Boies, Schiller and Flexner LIP,
MNew York, NY, Couriney R. Rocketl, Boies, Schiller
& Flexner L.LILP, Armonk, NY, for Plaintiffs,

Mark H. Camow, Grippo & Elden, John Donovan
Lien, Robert Montell Stephenson, Nathaniel lee
Strup, Foley & Lardner, Barry Francis Macentee,
Hinshaw & Culbertson, Peler Vincent Baugher, Jason
M. Roscnthal, Schopl & Weiss, Gerald Ilaberkom,
Robert Hill Smelizer, Martun W, McManaman, Lowis
& CGrellen, Chicago, [T, Sheldon . Fisen, John T
Montone, Orans, Elsen & Lupert, LLP, New York,
NY, for Delendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
1. EVE, ).

*1 This is a securities fraud action against multiple
defendants in connection with Plaintitfs’ investment
in an allegedly fraudulent scheme exccuted by
Defendants through M.J. Select (ilobal Fund, Lid.
{"M.].8elect"), a Bahamian mutual fund. The Court
previously addressed the motions to dismiss filed by
multiple Delendants. See Zurich Capital Markets Inc.
v. Coglianese, et gf, No. 03 € 7960, 2004 WL
1881782 (N.IUIIL Aup.2, 2004) (the "Aupust 2, 2004
Opinion"). In thix opinion, the Court rules on the
issues raised by Defendants Oceanic Bank and Trust
Limited, Kenneth Clowes, and Tersh Rahming
{collectively, the "Oceanic Defendants") in their
motion to dismiss.

The Qceanic Defendants have moved to dismiss
Rules of Civil Procedure 12¢(bY1), 12{(b}2) and
12¢(b¥#). Defendants claitm that the Court lacks
subject matter jurisdiction over the Amended
Complaint and personal jurisdiction over each of the
Qceanic Defendants. They also argue that ZCM lacks
standing to assert the claims, and that the Amended
Complaint is unlimely and fails to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted. As discussed in detail
below, Defendants' motion is granted in part and
denigd in part.

BACKGROUND
Plaintiffs allege that the Oceanic Defendants and
their co-Defendants engaged in a complex scheme to
defraud Plaintiffs oul of over 524 million. The dctails
of the alleged {raud are set forth in the Court's August
2, 2004 Opinion and will not be repeated here.

1. Factual Allegations

Plaintiff Zurich Capital Markets Inc. ("ZCM Inc.") is

a Delaware corporation and was one of the world's
largest custodians of hedge funds. Plaintiff ZCM
Matched Tunding Corp.,, a Dclaware cotporation,
("ZCM MFC") is a wholly owned subsidiary of ZCM
Inc., and specializes in the offering and sale of
derivative instruments. ZCM Bermuda is a Bermuda
corporation and an affiliate of ZCM Ine. that operates
as a holding company for offshore investments,
Plaintiff ZCM Asset Holding Company LLC ("ZCM
Asset") is a Delaware corporation and a wholly
owned subsidiary of ZCM Inc. that operates as a
holding company for offshore  investments.
Collectively, Plaintiffs are referred to as "ZCM."

Defendant Oceanic is the administrator, registrar,
and transter agent of ML), Select, with its principal
place of busincss in the Bahamas, ZCM alleges that
Oceanic transacted business through its agents in
Illinois, and had systematic and continuous contacts
with Illinais, (Id.)

Defendant Terah Rahming, a citizen of the Bahamas,

was a director of M.J. Select and wax employed by
Occanic as the Manager of the Funds Department,
ZCM alleges that Rahming transacted business
through her agents in [llinois and had systematic and
continuous conlacts with Illinois.

€ 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.5. Govt. Workas,
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Defendant Kenneth Clowes, also a citizen of the
Bahamas, was a director of M., Scleot and the Chief
Operating Officer of Oceanic. ZCM alleges that he
transacted business through his agents 1n [llinois, and
had systematic and continuous contacts with Illinois,
in his role as M.J. Selcet Director and Oceanic's
Chief Operating Officer.

A, Oceanic’s Role in the Scheme

*#) ZCM alleges that the Qceanic Defendants were
integral to the fraudulent scheme carried out by all of
the defcndants in conncotion with the investment
scheme in M.J. Select. Plaintiffs allege that Oceanic
became administrator, registrar and transfer agent of
M.I. Select in 1993, In that role, Qccanic was
responsible for the day-to-day administration of M.J.
Select, including the transfor of assets into and out of
M.J. Sclect and the processing of redemption
requests.

Asset Allocation Fund, L.P. ("Asset Allocation")
was M.). Select's first and largest investor. Martin
James Capital Management, Inc. ("Martin James")
served as the general partner of Assct Allocation, and
Martin Allamian was the sole owner and principal of
Martin James. Martin James also invested two other
partnerships under its control--M.1. Diversified Fund,
I.P. {"MJD") and M.J. Financial Arbitrage, L.P.
{"MIFA"}--in M.1. Select.

7CM alleges that Oceanic appointed M.J. Sclect's
board of directors in 1999, Tt named its employces--
Defendants Rahming and Clowes-—-as the sole
directors. In this capacity, Rahming and Clowes
assumed control over M.J, Selcct.

B. The Assignmenl Recognition Letter

As discussed in detail in the August 2, 2004
Opinion, in May 2000, 7ZCM MFC entercd into a call
option transaction with Assct Allocation which was a
derivative instrument. Under the terms of the call
option, ZCM MEC agreed to accept an assignment of
Asset Allocations' interests in various investrments,
including M.J. Select, MITY and MIFA, as an initial
prefuium payment Lo acquire the option transaction.
Before ZCM MFC would accept this assignment,
howcver, it required, among other things, a written
confirmation from (ceanic that it would recognize
the assignments and ZCM MIC as the sole owner of
100% of the interests in these entities formerly held
by Asscl Allocation. Iln responsc, Coglianese
arranged for Rahming to sign the confirmation on

behalf of M1, Select and Oceanic.

The confirmation--referred to as an "assignment
recognition letter’--allegedly fraudulently induced
ZCM into investing millions of dollars into M.J.
Select. ZCM  alleges that the May 31, 2000
“assignment recognition letter” [alsely represented
that Oceanic would recognize ZCM MEC as the sole
owner of 100% of the shares in M.J. Select that had
previously been invested under the name of Asset
Allocation. They further allegc that Oceanic and
Rabming falsely represented that ZCM MFC "as sole
owmer ... will have all of the rights and privileges that
normally accompany such ewnership." Tn addition,
ZCM alleges that Rahming and Oceanic fraudulently
omitted that M.J. Select had a discriminatory
redemption policy and that ZCM's share interests
were not effectively redeemable consistent with the
offering documents.

Based, in part, on the assignment confirmation letter,
ZCM  MIC accepted an assignment of Asset
Allocations interests in M.J. Selcet, MID and MIFA,
Tn 2001, ZCM instructed Oceanic to redeem its
interests  in - M.J. Selecl.  Contrary  to  its
representations, Oceanic did not redeem ZCM's
shares. Instead, Oceanic honored  subsequently
submitted redemption requests made on behalf of co-
defendants Coglianese's and Martin James' [riends,
family and business associates. ZCM still has not
received its redemptions.

IL. The 2001 ZCM Action

*3 On August 14, 2001, ZCM Bermuda filed a
securities fraud action against Qccanic and various
other defendants (the "2001 Action"). The 2001
Action was based on the defendants’ "fraudulent
offering, conversion, and transfer of limited
partnership interests" in MID, MIFA and M.J. Seleol.
ZCM Bermuda alleged that Oceanic "affirmatively
represemted in the offering documents that the
parmership interests and shares would be readily
tedeemablce on short notice, and Plaintiff relied upon
those representations of liguidity in making its
investments."

Count I of the 2001 Action alleged that Oceanic and
other defendanls misrepresented that the plaintiffs
shares in M.J, Select were redeemable within 30 days
written notice. They alleged that defendants,
including Oceanic, instead intended to control,
convert, and transfer the plainiiff's interests
regardless of Plainti{l's redemption demands.
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On October 10, 2001, ZCM Bermuda filed an
amended complaint adding ZCM, Inc, ZCM
Matched Funding Corp. and ZCM Asset Holindg
Company 1.LC as plaintiffs to the 2001 Action and
numerous defendants to that case. In  addition,
plaintiffs alleged in the amended complaint that
Oveanic, with two of its co-defendants, controlled
M1, Select. On Japmary 1, 2002, ZCM filed a second
amended complaiot in the 2001 Action,

On March 25, 2002, Judge Tindberg granted
Oceamic's motion to dismiss the second amended
complaint in the 2001 ZCM Action. The court
dismissed the case with respect to Qceanic with
prejudice on the ground that ZCM had failed to plead
the Rule 10b-5 claim against Occanic with
particularity pursuant to Rule 9(b) and had failed w
plead scienter under the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, 15 US.C. § _78u-4(b) (the
"PSLRA™). The courl further found that ZCM had
failed to plead that Oceanic had a duty to disclose,

Cn  August 30, 2002, the 2001 Action was
transterred to this Court. See 766347 Ontario Lid. v.
Zurich Capital Markets, [ne., 249 1'Supp.2d 974
(N.D.I11.2003) for a discussion of the case,

ANALYSIZ
I. Legal Standards

The Qceanic Defendants bring this motion pursuant
to Rules 12(b}1), 12(0)(2) and 12(b}(6). A Rule
12(h)1) motion to dismiss tests the federal
jurisdiction of a complaint. See FedR Civ.P.

12(h}(1). Plaintiffs bear thc burden of proving the

existence of subject matter jurisdiction. fm?
Harvester Co. v, Deere & Co., 623 T.2d 1207, 1210
(7th Cir.1980). In analyzing a Rule 12(b}!) motion,
the Court may look beyond the pleadings. See Long
v. Shorebank Dev. Corp., 182 F.3d 548, 554 (7th
Cir. 1999y, Fnt'l Harvester, 623 F.2d at 1210, The
Court must accept all well-pleaded factual allegations
as true and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of
the plaintiff, Long, 182 F.3d at 554,

A Rule 12(b)2) motion to dismiss for lack of
personal jurisdiction tests whether a federal court has
persomal  jurisdiction over a  defendant.  See
Fed R.Civ.P. 12(b)2). Similar to subject matter
jurisdiction, a plaintiff has the burden of
demonstrating the existence of personal jurisdiction
over a defendant. Jennings v. AC Hydraulic A/S, No,
23-2157, 2004 WL 1963661, at * 1 (7th Cir. Sept.2,
2004); RAR, Inc,_v. furner Diesel, Ltd, 107 F.3d
1272, 1276 (7th Cir1957). A plaintill need eonly

make a prima facie case that jurisdiction over a
defendant is proper. Hyatt Im'l Corp. v. Coco, 302
F.3d 707, 713 (7th Cir.2002). In determining whether
g plaintiff has met this burden, a court may consider
affidavits from both parties. Luwrnock v. Cope, 816
I.2d 332, 333 (7th Cir.1987). The court must accept
as true all allegations in the complaint which are nol
challenged by a defendant's affidavit; any conflicts in
the affidavits must be resolved in favor of the
plaintiff, Id.

*4 The purposc of & motion 1o dismiss under Rule
12(b¥6) is to "lest the sufficicncy of the complaint,
not to decide the merits" of the case, Triad Assocs.
Ine. v. Chicago Housing Awth,, 892 T.2d 583, 586
(7th Cir.1989), When deciding a motion to dismiss
pursuant to Rulc_ 12(b}6), the Court views "the
complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff,
taking as true all well-pleaded factual allegations and
making all possible inferences from those allegations
in his or her favor." Lee v, City of Chicago, 330 ¥.3d
456, 459 (7th Cir.2003). Dismissal is appropriate
only where it appears beyond doubt that under no set
of facts would plaintiffs allegations entitle him or her
to relief. See Henderson v Sheahan, 196 F.3d 839,
846 (7th Cir.1999),

I1. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

The Court will first address the issue of subject
matter jurisdiction, The Oceanic Defendants argue
that the Court lacks subject matter junisdiction over
ZCM's federal securitics fraud claims because the
dispute exists between ZCM Bermuda, a Bermuda
corporation, and Oceanic, a Bahamian corporation.
As addressed in the Coutt's Aupgust 2, 2004 Opinion,
a sceurities fraud claim involving foreign transactions
must comply with cither the "conduct® or the
"effects” approach in order to confer subject matter
jurisdiction on a federal court. See Kawthar SDN
SHD v. Sternhery, 149 F.3d 659, 665 (7th Cir. 1998).
"I'hese two approaches ... focus on whether the
activity in question has had a sufficient impact on or
relation to the United States, its markets or ils
citizens to justify American regulation of the
situation. Specifically, one approach focuses on the
domestic conduct in question, and the other focuses
on the domestic etfects resulting from the transaction
at issuc." fd.

Under the clfects approach, "courts have looked to
whether conduct occurring in foreign countries had
caused forcsceable and substantial harm to inlerests
in the United States." Tamari v. Bache & Co
{Lebanon) S.4.L, 730 Fad 1103, 1108 (7th
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Cir.1984), As for the conduct approach, "federal
courts have jurisdiction over an alleged violation of
the antifraud provisions of the securities laws when
the conduct occurring in the United States directly
causes the plaintiff's alleged loss in that the conduct
forms a substantial part of the alleged fraud and is
material to its success. This conduct must be more
than merely preparatory in nature; however, we do
not go so far as to require that the conduct ocourring
domestically must itsclf satisfy the clements of a
securitics violation" |FN1| Kawthar, 149 F.3d at
667,

ZCM alleges in Count LI that Rahming and Oceanic
made false and misleading stalements and orissions
on or zhout May 31, 2000 in conneclion with the
purchasc and sale of sccurities 1ssued by M.1. Select.
ZCM alleges that M.J. Select's shares were offered
and sold in the United States to United States'
investors as a premium  paymenl from  Asset
Allocation, an [llinois limited parinership, ZCM
alleges that Coglianess and/or Martin James prepared
the fraudulent assignment recognition agreement in
1llinois, and that Martin James faxed a copy of the
blank assignment confirmation tw Coglianese, an
llinois resident, who arranged for Rahming to sign it.
The Court draws the reasonable inference that one of
these Ilinois residents contacted Rahming for the
purpose of signing it. ZCM further alleges that
Oceanic and Rahming mailed the May 31, 2000 letter
to ZCM in New York in order to induce them to
invest in M.J. Select. They allege that Oceanic and
Rahming had frequent communications with
Coglianese, an Illinois resident, and the Cogliancse
Accounting Entities, one of which is an Tlinois
professional corporation and one is an Tllinoig
corporation, regarding the promotion of M.J. Select
securities and the daily operations of M.J. Select.
Plaintiffs allege that Oceanic and Rahming conspired
with Martin James in Tllingis to trcat Martin James
and Assct Allocation, Illinois entities, as the owners
of ZCM's shares and to impropetly convert ZCM's
redemption proceeds to insiders in the United States.
These allegations are sufficient o confer subject
matter jurisdiction over Count 11,

*5 Regarding ZCM's control person claim in Count
III, ZCM has alleged both that Defendants caused
foreseeable harm to United States' interests and that
conduct within the United States was material to
Defendants' successful completion of the allegedly
fraudulent scheme. ZCM alleges that the Oceanic
Defendants were control persons of M.J. Select. They
allepe that defendants in Illinois prepared and
circulated the false misrepresentations in the M.

Sclect offering materials, and that various co-
defendants who are Illinois residents offered and sold
M.I. Sclect's shares 1n the United Staves, ZCM alleges
that [llinois accountants and auditors sent fraudulent
M.I. Select financial statements 0 the Oceanic
Defendants, whe in wrn sent them to United Siales'
investors. ZCM further alleges that ZCM MFEC, a
Delaware corporation, accepted shares in M.J. Select
as a premium payment from Assct Allocation, an
Ilineis limited partnership, in exchange for carrying
out the call option transaction. Defendants, according
to Plaintiffs, funneled substantial sums Gom the
frandulent scheme to the Coglianese Defendants in
[linois. Based on these allegations, this Court has
subject matter jurisdiction over Count 11,

IIL. Personal Jurisdiction.

The Oceanic Defendants also seek o dismiss the
complaint for lack of persgnal junsdiction, They
argue that they did not have conlituous and
systematic business contacts that would provide this
Court with personal jurisdiction over them.

A. Federal Claims

Because Count 1[I remains against Oceanic, Clowes,
and Rahming, |FN2| the jurisdictional provisions of
the Securitics Exchange Act apply. Specifically,
Section 27 of the Acl provides, in relevant part:

Any suit or action to enforce any liability or duty
created by this chapter or rules and regulations
theteunder, or to enjoin any viclation of such
chapler or rules and regulations, may be brought in
any ... district [wherein any act or transaction
comstituting the violation occurred] ot in the district
wherein the defendant is found or is an inhabitant
or transacls business, and process in such cascs
may be served in any other district of which the
defendant is an inhabitant or wherever the
defendant may be found.

153 T1.5.C, & 7Raa (2000). "Scrvice of process is
how a cowrt gets jurisdiction over the person.” Lisak
v. Mercantile Bancorp, Ine, 834 E.2d 668, 671 (7th
Cir.1987). Because the Act provides for nationwide
service of process, it confers personal jurisdiction in
federal court over defendants with minimum contacts
with the United Stetes, as long as the mandates of
constitutional due process are met. Id. (emphasis
added); Fitzsimmons v Barton, 589 F.2d 330, 332
Options Exch, No. 01 C 9456, 2002 WL 31017808,
at *3 (N.D.IIL. Sept.6, 2002). See also FedR.Civ.P.
4(k)(2) ("If the exercise of jurisdiction is consistent
with the Constitution and laws of the United States,
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serving a summons ... is also effcctive, with respect
to claims arising under federal law. to establish
personal jurisdiction over the person of any defendant
who i3 not subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of
general jurisdiction of any state™); detion Embroidery
Corp. v. Arlantie Embroidery, Ine. 368 T 3d 1174,
1180 (9th Cir.2004). Thus, the Court will analyze the
limitations of federal constitutional due process to
determine if personal jurisdiction exists over each of
the Oceanic Defendants. United Rope Distribs., Ine.
v. Seatriumph Muaring Corp., 930 1°.2d 532, 334 (7th
Cir.1991).

*6 Federal due process requires that each Defendant

have "certain minimum contacts with [the United
States] such that the maintenance of the suit does not
offend 'traditional notions of fair play and substantiial
justice.” ' RAR,_107 E.3d at 1277 (quoting IntT Show
Co. v. Washington, 326 U8, 310, 316, 66 5.Ct. 154,
158, 90 L.Fd. 95 (1945)). The Oceanic Defendants’
contacts with the United States must be such that they
"should reasonably anticipate being haled into court
there.” Burger King Corp. v, Rudzewicz, 471 T1S.
462, 474, 105 S.Ct. 2174, 2183, 85 [.Ed2d 528
{19%5) {citations omitted). Each Defendant must have
putposefully availed himself or herself of the
privilege ol conducling activities in the forum state,
invoking the benefits and protections of its laws, [,
at 475, 105 §.Ct. at 2183, Given Section 78aa, the
Court will focus its due progess analysis on whether
the Oceanic Defendants have minimum contacts with
the United States. The minimum contacts standard
varies depending on whether the plaintiff asscrts
general or specific jurisdiction, Here, Plaintiffs arguc
that the Court has both general and specific
Jurisdiction,

General jurisdiction is proper when the defendant
has "continuous and systematic gencral business
contacts" with the forum. RA4R 107 F3d al 1277
{quoting Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, $.4.
v {fedl 466 US 408, 416, 104 8.C1. 1868, 1875, 80
1.Ed.2d 404 (1984)). Specific jurisdiction exists if
the claims "arise out of or relatc to the defendant's
contacts with the forum," Helicopteros Nacionales de
Colombia, 5.4., 466 US at 414 n. 8, 104 5.Ct._at
1872 n. 8,

ZCM argues that Oceanic's minimum contacts with
the United States are met through the following; 1)
Oceanic conununicates with investment managers
and related personnel in the United States regarding
the funds at issue in this case; 2) Oceanic adininisters
investment funds olaling approximately $5 billion in
assels in the United States, including MLI. Select and

two funds in New York, 3) Ocecanic advertises
through a Client Information Package that "Oceanic
works with domestic advisors to preserve wealth and
minimize estate taxes for U8, residents;” 4) Oceanic
derives approximately 20-25% of its overall income
from administering funds with U8, investment
managers; 5) many of the trusts administered by
Oceanic have United States beneliciaries; 6) Oceanic
deals with major banks, money managers' dealers in
the United States; 7) Oceanic advertises that i
"works with domestic advisors to preserve wealth and
minimize estate taxcs for Uniled States residents; 3)
Clowes  testified  that  “"senior management [of
Oceanic] arc constantly making client relationship
management trips to the USA;" 9) Oceanic maintains
accounts at eight brokerage firms in the United States
with monthly balances in cach account exceeding
$10,000; 10} many wire ransfers to and from
Oceanic werc routed through a correspondent bank
account in Mew York; and 11) Oceanic has an
interactive wcbsite located ar www.oceanic.bs on
which it actively advertizes and promotes its services
to tesidents of the United States, [FN3] These
contacts with the United States justify the Court's
exercise of personal jurisdiction over Oceanic. See
Cromer Fin Lrd v Berger, 137 F.5upp.2d 452, 474-
79 (S.DMNY.2001); Samuel H Esterkvn, MDD, Ing.
Pension_Sharing _amd Profit Sharing Plap v Van
Hedge Fund Advisors, Ine., 108 F.Supp.2d 876, 800
(M.D.Tenn 1999).

*7 ZCM also has identified Rahming and Clowes'
contacts with the United States, ZCM has established
thal Rahming has attended various conferences in the
United States for business pwrposes. Rahming sent
electronic mail o United States residents soliciting
thern  to  wvisit Oceanic's  website;  frequently
communicated via telephone, e-mail, [acsimile and
mail with the Coglianese co-defendants in Illinois; is
licensed by the Colorado Board of Accountancy as a
Certifiad Public Accountant, sat for her Certified
Public Accountant cxam in California, attended
Florida Memorial College in Florida, regularly
visited the State of Floria; transmitied or caused to be
transmitted information on redemption requesis to the
Coglianese defendants in Illingis for clearance and
approval; contacted the Coglianese defendants and
Martin James in Illinois to obtain contact information
for the other M.J. Select shareholders; sent or caused
to be sent performance evaluation and monthly and
annual account statments and financial statements 1o
M.J. Seleet shareholders residing in the United
States; issucd the [audulent assignment recognition
agreement to ZCM in New York; and communicated
with ZCM in New York via faxes, phone calls and e-
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tmails to falsely confirm that M.J. Select would honor
ZCM's redemption requests,

ZCM argues that Clowes made seven trips to the
United States from 1999 to the present, including one
ta Illinois. They also contend that Clowes sent e-mail
to United States residents 1o advertise Oceanic's
website and solicit them to visit the website; direcied
wire transfers through Oceanic's and M. Select's
correspondent bank account at Barclays Bank in New
York, including funds at issue in this case that
originated and ended in llinois; communicated with
the Coglianese Defendanis in Illinois reparding the
daily operations of M.J. Select, the termination of
M.J. Select’s trading advisor and the liquidation of
M.J. Select: communicatced with the Coglianese
Defendants in [llinois regarding numerous other
funds administered by Oceanic for which Clowes
served as Director; and filed numerous declarations
in the 2001 Action to conceal the true [acts of this
case. Clowes' actions were purposely dirceted toward
the United States.

These contacts with the United States satisfy the duc
process clause and cstablish personal jurisdiction
aver the securities fraud claims with respect to
Rahming and Clowes. See San Maten County Transit
Dist. v, Dearman, Fitzgerald and Roberts, Inc., 979
F.2d 1356, 1358 (9th Cir. 1992); United Phosphorous,
Lid_ v, Angus_Chem. Co., 43 _F.Supp.2d 904, 912

(MDD 1999).

B. Fair Play and Substantial Tustice

'The Court must next determine whether its exercise
of personal jurisdiction over the Oceanic Defendants
comports with "traditional notions of fair play and
substantial justice." Asahi Meial Indus. Co., Lid. v.
Superior Court of California, 480 1.5, 102, 113, 107
S.Ct 1026, 1033, 94 1. EA2d 92 (1987} (quoting Intd
Shoo Co., 320 11.8. at 316). See afso Jennings, 2004
WI. 1965661, at ¥2. A party's assertion of jurisdiction
must be reasonable in light of the burden on the
defendant, the plaintiff's interest in obtaining relief,
the interests of Illinois, the judicial system's interest
in efficiently resolving controversies, and the "shared
interest of the several Stales in furthering
fundamental substantive social policies." Asahi, 480
U.5. at 113 (citations omitted). The Court tnust
determine whether this is "one of these rare cases in
which minimum requirements inherent in the concept
of fair play and substantial justice .. defeat the
reasonableness of jurisdiction.” fd. a 116, 107 5.CL
al 1034 (Brennan, J., concurring) (citations omitted).

*8 Txercise of the Court's jutisdiction in this case is
fair and just. "The United States has a substantial
interest in the enforcement of its securities laws and
the protection of investors in the United States
securities markets.” Cremmer Fin,, Lrd,, 137 F.Supp.2d
at 479, Tllinois also has an interest in enforcing its
gecurities laws. Further, the burden on Oceanic is
small given that it bas continuous business in the
United States. Given the Defendants' substantial
contacts with the forum and their systematic and
continuous business in the United States, the Courl
will exercise its jurisdiction over them.

C. Fiduciary Shield Doctrine

Defendants Clowes and Rahming arguc that they arc
protected under the fiduciary shield doctrine because
their only connection to this case is (hrough their
work as Oceanic's cmployees. In Illinois, the
"fidugiary shield doctrine” precludes courts from
exercising jurisdiction over a non-resident corporale
official when the only contacts that individual has
with Tlinois are made in his or her corporate
capacity. See Rice v Nova Biomedical Corp., 38 1.3d
900, 912 (7th Cir.1994) ("This doctrine ... denies
personal jurisdiction over an individual whose
presence and activity in the state in which the suil i3
brought were solely on behalf of his employer or
other principal.") (internal citations omitied). Where
an individual defendant's conduct in Tllinois "was a
product of, and was motivated by, his cmployment
situation and not his personal mterests, ... it would be
unfair to use this conduct to assert personal
jurisdiction over him as an individual™ Roflins v,
Elhvgod. 141 1.2d 244, 280, 152 1ll.Dec. 384, 400,
565 N.E.2d 1302, 1318 (1990} The fiduciary shield
doctrine, however, "is a matter of state law only,” not
federal law. Hardin Roller Corp. v. Universal
Printing Mach., Inc, 236 T.3d %39, 842 (7ih
Cir.2001). Accordingly, it does not apply w ZCM's
federal scourities fraud claims,

Even if the doctrine applies, Clowes and Rahming
are not protected by it based on the allegations in the
Amended Complaint. Tt is clear that the fiduciary
shield doctring is discretionary or equitable, rather
than @an absolute entitlement, See Burnhope v
National Mortgage Equity Corp., 208 Tl App.3d 426,
439-40, 153 TlLDec. 398, 405-06, 567 N.L.2d 356,
163-64 (1st Dist.1990). Therc are two exceplions to
the doctrine: "{(1) the shield iz removed if the
individual's personal interests motivated his actions,
and (2) the shield generally does not apply when the
individual's actions are discretionary." Jones v. Sabis
Edue.  Svs. Inc, 52 [.Supp2d 806F, "a3
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{(M.ID11.1959) (internal citations omitted), But see
Robinson v. Sabis Educ. Sys., Inc, 1999, No 98 C
4251, WL 412642, at *3 (N.D.TIL May 28, 1999)
(questioning whether these cxceptions exist without
the corporation also being a sham entity).

ZCM alleges that both Clowes and Rahming served
as the two most scmior persoms in Qceanic's fund
administration department. Rahming scrved as the
Manager of the Fund, and Clowes served as the Chief
Operating (fficer of Oceanic, The allegations in the
Amended Complaint are sufficient to infer that
Rahming and Clowes had significant discretion at
Oceanic, including discretion in determining whether
to conduct business in the United States.
Accordingly, the doctrine does not apply to them. See
Minkus v. Los Alamos Technical dssoc. Inc, No. 03
C 4216, 2004 W1, 1459499, at *3 (NI, June 38,
2004y, Brujis v. Shaw, 876 L.Supp. 075, 973-80
(N.D.TI1.1995),

1. Pendent Personal lurisdiction

#0 Recause the Court has personal jurisdiction over
the Oceanic Defendants, it also can assert personal
jurisdiction over the state law claims under the
doctrine of "supplemental” or "pendent” personal
jurisdiction. Rebingon Eng's Co., Ltd. Pension FPlan
& Trust v, George. 223 F.3d 445, 449-50 (7th
Cir.2000). Oceanic's motion to dismiss for lack of
personal jurisdiction is therclore denicd.

IV. Statute of Limitations

In its Augnst 2, 2004 Opinion, the Court set forth in
detail the law poverning statute of limitations in
faderal securitics fraud actions, As the Court noted, if
a "plaintff pleads facts that show its suit [is] barrad
by a statute of limitations, it may plead itsell out of
court under a Rule 12(b)(6) analysis." Hhirlpool Fin.
Corp._v. GN Loldings, Inc., 67 F.3d 605, 608 (7th
Cir.1995), "|Blecause the question of whether a
plaintiff had sufficient facts to place it on ingquiry
notice of a claim for sceurities fraud is one of fact, i
may be ‘nappropriate for resolution on a motion o
dismiss under Rule 12(0)(&)." ' Kauthar SDN BHD v,
Sternbere, 149 T.3d 639, 669-70), (citing Merks v.
CDW Computer Clrs., fne., 122 F.3d 363, 367 (7th
Cir.1997)).

The Oceanic Defendants argue that Plaintiffs' federal
securitics law claims are barred by the statute of
limitations because they are reasserting the same
claims they filed against Defendant Oceanic in the
2001 action. Because ZCM filed the 2001 Action on

Novetnber 7, 2003--more than two years before they
filed this case—the Oceanic Defendanls arguc that
this case is time barred.

A, The Applicable Limitations Period

The Court must first determine the applicable statute
of limitations period. Prior to July 30, 2002, a
plaintiff had to file a Section 10(b) action "within one
year after the discovery of the facts constituting the
violation and within three years after such violation.”
Lampf Pleva,  Lipkind, Frupis & Petigrow v.
Gilbertson, 501 U.S. 350, 364, 111 8.Ct. 2773, 2742,
115 L.Ed.2d 321 (1931). On July 30, 2002, Congress
cnacted the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and expanded the
limitations period for such claims involving "fraud,
deceit, mamipulation, or contrivance in contravention
of a regulatory requirement concerning the securitics
laws” to two years after the discovery of the facts
constituting the violation and within five years after
such violation. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Pub.L.
No. 107-204. & 804, 116 Stat. 745, 801 (2002} (10 be
codificd at 28 11.5.C. 1658(b)). Section 304(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act specifically provides that the
expanded limitations period "shall apply to all
proceedings addressed by this gection that are
commenced on or after the date of enactment of this
Act™ Id.

The Seventh Circuit has embraced the concept that
courts may not apply a statute that lengthens an
applicable statute of limitations to revive claims (hat
arc otherwise time-barred under the old statule of
limitaions because "to do so would ‘alter the
substantive rights' of a party and ‘increase a party's
Vability" * Stone v. Hamilton, 308 F.ad 751, 757 (7th
Cir.2002) (quoting Chenawuit v. United States Postal
Serv. 37 F.3d 535, 539 (9th Cir.1994)). Numerous
courts have applied this concept to the Sarbanes-
Oxley extension of the statute of limitations in
seourities fraud cases, and held that the extended
limitations period does not apply to claims thal were
time-barred when Congress enacted Sarbancs-Oxley.
See e, Inre ADC Telecomm., e, Sec, Litig., No,
CLV. 03-1194, 2004 WL 1898469, at ----3-3
(12.Minn. May 17, 2004) {Sarbanes-Oxley does not
apply retroactively to revive time-barred claims); At
Ram, I Ttd v. SMC Muliimedia Cop., Nao. 03 Civ.
5569, 2004 WL 744792, at *5 (S.DNY. Ape7,
2004} ("Plamtiff's claims were not yel barred when
Sarbanes-Oxley was cnacted and, accordingly, the
amended statute of limitatons applied"); In re Enron
Corp. Sec., Derivative & Erisa Litig., No. MDL-
1446, Civ.A, H-01-3624, 2004 WL 405886, at *12
(5.0 Tex. LU'eb.25,_2004) (same), Glaser v. Enzo
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Biochem, Ine., No. CIV.A. 02-1242-A, 2003 WL
21960613, at *3 (ED.Va. July 16, 2003); n_re
Heritage Bond Lige, 28% F.Supp2d 1132, 1148
(C.D.Cal. Jan6. 2003); but see Roberts v, an
Witter Revnolds, Ine, No. 8:02-CV-2125-T-26, 2003
WL 1936116, ar *3__(M.D.Fla. Mar31, 2003)
(applying Sarbancs-Oxley retroactively to all claims,
including time-barred  claims  because "Congress
intended to lengthen the siatute of limitations to
enable people who lost their life-savings to
companies like Fnron to recover some of their
investments"). The Court agrees with the reasoning
of these decisions. The plain language of the statute
does not clearly reflect a Congressional intention to
apply the extended limitations period retroactively to
revive time-barred claims. See INS v, St Cyr, 533
US, 289, 316, 121 5.t 2271, 2248, 150 | .Bd.2d
347 (2001) ("A statule may not be applied
retroactively | | absent a clear indication from
Congress that it intended such a result).

*10 As discussed in the next section of this opinion,
the Court cannot conclude at this stage that Plaintiffs’
claims werc barred as a matter on law on July 31,
2002 when Congress passed Sarbanes-Oxley.
Plaintifts’ Section 10b-5 claim accrued by August 14,
2001 when Plaintifts filed the August 2001 Action,
Under the one year stalule of limitations, the periad
would not have expired until August 14, 2002--after
Congrese passed the Sarbannes-Oxley Act. Because it
was nol lime-barred as a matter of law at that time,
the amended statute of limitations--and its two year
time petriod--applies to Plaintitfs’ securitics fraud
claimsg in this case.

Defendants’ heavy reliance on fn e Enterprive
Moriguge Acceptance Co, L L.C. Sec. Lirg, 295
F.Supp.2d 307, 312-17 (5.D.N.¥.2003), i misplaced.
In Lnterprise, the court held that the two years stalute
of limitations under Sarbanes-Oxley did not apply o
the plaintiff's securities fraud claims because such
claims were already time-barred prior to the ellective
date of Sarbanes-Oxley, Here, ZCM's claims were
not time-barred as a matter of law when Sarbanes-
Oxley became effective. The Enterprise rcasoning,
therefore, does not apply to this case,

B. Accrual

Because it is often difficult for a plaintift 0 know
thal he or she has been the victim of securities fraud
until years afier the commission of the fraud, the
statutc of lmitations for federal securities fraud
claimys commences under Lhe doctrine of "inquiry

F[.3d 1332, 1334 (7th Cir.1997). Under inquiry
notice, the "statute of limitations applicable to suits
under Rule 10b-5 begins to run not when the fraud
oceurs, and not when the fraud is discovered, i
when (ofien between the date of vceurrence and the
date of the discovery of the fraud) the plaintiff leatns,
pr should have learned through the exercise of
ordinary diligence in the protection of one's legal
rights, enough facts to enable him by such further
investigation as  the facts would induce in a
reasonable person to sue within a year” £, citing
Law v. Medeo Research, Ine., 113 F.3d 781, 785 (7th
Cir.1997). For inquiry notice, more than "merely
suspicinus circumstances” must exist. Fujisawa, 1135
F.3d at 1337. "TI'he facts constituting such notice must
be sufficiently probative of fraud--sufficiently
advanced beyond the stage of a mere suspicion,
sufficiently confirmed or substantiated--not only to
incite the victim to investigate but also to enable him
o te up any loose cnds and complete the
investigation in time to file a timely suit." Jd at 1335,

Onc important factor courts consider in determining
when the seatute of limitations beging is a party's ease
of access w0 evidence that would wmigger an
appropriate inquiry. See Marks v, COW Computer
Ctrs., Ine., 122 F3d 363, 368 (7th Cir1997),
Additionally, "[t]here must also be a suspicious
circumstance to trigger a duty o exploit the access;
an open door is not by itself a reason to enter a
room.... How suspicious the citcumstance need be to
set the statute of limitalions running ... will depend
on how easy it is to obtain the necessary proof by a
diligent investigation atmed at confirming or
dispelling the suspicion," Pufisawa, 45 F.3d at 1335,

1. Claims Against Qccanic

*11 ZCM Bermuda sued Oceanic and others in the
2001 Action for securities fraud on August 14, 2001.
The Oceanic Defendants argue that the 2001 Action
clearly demonstrates that Plaintiffs had actual notice
of the alleged violations as of August 14, 2001.

a. Section 10(k) Claim

Both the 2001 Action and this case are based on a
complex fraudulent investment scheme involving
M.J. Select. Both actions involve ZUM's injury
arising from their investment in M.J. Select. ZCM
alleges in both cases that it reasonably relied on
alleged misrepresentations regarding redemption of
interest in M.J, Select when it purchased the
partnership interests. Similarly, ZCM alleges in both
actions that it suffered its losses as a result of the
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defendants’ failure to redeem ZCM's partnership
interests and sharcs, and because the defendants
fraudulently converted and transferred JCM's
intercsls.

The 2001 Action alleged that Oceanic had made
false and material misrepresentations in M.J. Seleel's
Private Placement Memorandum ("PPM"). Although
ZCM bases the case bofore the Court on a May 31,
2000 "assignment recognition agreement,” Plaintifls
had that agrecment as ecarly as September 2001,
(2001 Action, 01 C 6250, R. 134-1, ix.BJ at 508-69,
Tr. Of 9/24/01 Martin Allamian Dep.). In the 2001
Action and this case, Plaintiffs allege that Oceanic
was the administrator, registrar, and (ransfer agent of
M.J. Sclect. In both cases, Plainiiffs allege they
demanded that Oceanic pay ZCM the proceeds from
the redemption of its limited partnership intercsis,
and that Oceanic failed to recognize ZCM Bermuda
as the owner of certain shares becausc il failed to
process ZCM Bermuda's redemption requesl.

Even though in 2001 ZCM did not have all of the
details of the alleged fraud committed by Oceanic,
the allegations in the 2001 Action demonstrate that il
knew enough facts to cnable it to further investigale
when it filed the 2001 Action. ZCM was on inquiry
notice of its Section 10(b} claim when it filed the
2001 Action. The allegations against Oceanic are
based on the same fraudulent scheme, the same
injury, the same theories, the same cause of action,
and the same omissions. The Court holds that as a
matter of law Plaintiffs were on inquiry notice of
their Section 10(b) claim when they filed the 2001
Action,

Although Plaintift claims that Oceanic frandulently
concealed some crucial facts in this case, "when
knowledge of notice is required to starl the statute of
fimitations running, there is no room for equitable
tolling." Lregenza v, Groat A, Communications Ceo.,
12 F.3d 717, 721 (7th Cir.1993) (cmphasis omitted).
Cquitable tolling does not apply to the statute of
limitations in the securities fraud case. Whirlpool, 67
1.3d at 610, See Lampf, 501 U.S. at 363-64 {"[TThe
equitable  tolling doctrine i fundamentally
inconsistent with the 1- and 3-year structure [of the
statute of limitations].... The 3-year limit is a period
of repose inconsistens with tolling.... Because the
purpose of the 3-year limitation is clearly to serve as
a cutoff, we hold that wlling principles do not apply
to that period."); fn re Merrill Lvuch & Co., Inc.
Research Reparts Sec. Litig., 289 I'.Supp.2d 416, 426
(5..M.Y.2003) ("Fquilable tolling is inconsistent
with the discovery period because if a defendant

actively conceals a fraud, then plaintiff will not
discover the facts sugpesting the violation and the
statuite will not begin to run, making lolling
UNNecessary... . Equitable tolling is  also
fundamentally inconsistent with the repose period
becausc that limit is 'clearly to serve as a cutoff' and
it would have no significance as an outside limit if it
could be tolled™ .

b, Section 20(a) Claim

*12 A Section 20(a) claim includes different
elements than a Section 10(b) claim. In the amended
complaint to the 2001 Action, ZCM alleged that
Oceanic controlled M.J. Select.  Although  this
allegation suggests ZUM was on inquity notice
regarding the general control element of a Section
20(a) claim, the Court cannot conclude as a matter of
law that ZCM was on ingquiry notice two years in
advance of November 7, 2003 when it filed this suit
of the specitic control element of its Section 20(a)
claim against ZCM. The Court admits that this issue
is a close one, but at this stage, the Court cannot
conclude "definitively” that ZCM has pled itsell out
of courl as to the Section 20(a) claim against
Oceanic. See Barry Aviwtion Inc. v, Land 'Lakes
Municipal Alrport Com ', 377 F.3d 682, 688 (7th
Cjr.2004). Accordingly, that claim remains.

2. Claims Against Rahming and Clowes

In contrast to Oceanic, the 2001 Action does not
Jemonstrate that ZCM was on  inquiry notice
regarding Rahming and Clowes, The 2001 Action
does not mention either individual nor detail their
roles in the alleged fraud. At this stage of the
litigation, the Court cannot conclude that the statute
of limitations accrued as to Rahming and Clowes
when ZCM filed the 200} Action,

C, Statute of Repose

The Sarbanes-Oxley five vear stamte of repose
applies at this stage of the litigation for the same
reasons the two year statute of limitations applics.
ZOM's scourities  fraud  claims  involve alleged
misreprescntations on May 31, 2000 and April 1,
2000, Because ZCM filed this action on November 7,
2003, these dates comfortably fall within the five
year statute of repose.

V. Standing

The Court addressed the standing issuc in its August
2, 2004 Opinicn. Defendanis’ motion to dismiss for
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lack of standing is denicd for the rcasons set forth in
that Opinion.

V1. Plaintiffs Sufficiently Allepe Federal Securities
Fraud Violations

A Count II--Scetion 10(b)

Although the Court is dismissing Count 11 against
Oceanie as time-barred, Plaintiffs' Count Il claim for
securitics fraud under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
remains against Rahming. Plaintiffs must allege that
Defendant Rahming (1) made a false statement or
omission; (2) of a material fact; (3) with scienter; (4)
in connection with the purchasc or sale of scourities;
(5) upont which PlainGffs justifiably relied; and (6)
the reliance proximately caused Plaintiffs' damages.
Inre HealthCare Compare Corp. Sec. Litig. 75 F.3d
276, 280 (7th Cir.1996).

Both Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) and the
PSLRA apply to these allegations and impose
heightened pleading requirements on Plaintiffs. Rule
9(b) requires that Plaintiffs plead fraud allegatiops
with particularity. Fed.R.Civ.P. 9(b). In addition to
Rule 9(b), the strict pleading mandates of the PSLRA
apply to Plaintiffs' complaint. In order to meet the
PSLRA's dictates for a securities fraud claim, "the
complaint shall specify cach statement alleged to
have been misleading, the reason or reasons why the
slatement 1% misleading, and, if an allegation
regarding the statement or omission 13 made on
information and belief, the complaint shall state with
particularity all facts on which that belicf is formed.”
15 U.5.C. § 78u-HB(1) (2000},

1. Alleged Misrepresentations and Omissions

#}13 Count I against Rahming is premised on the
May 31, 2000 "assignment recognition agreement,”
signed by Rahming. Plaintiffs allege that Rahming
made false and misleading statements in this May 31
letier in connection with the purchase and sale of
securities issued by M_J. Select. Plaintiffs allege that
the assignment recognition agreemcnt is false and
misleading becauss 1) it falsely represented that
Oceanic would recognize ZCM MFC as the sole
owner of 100% of M.J. Select's shares assigned to
ZCM MFEC and subsequently ZCM Bermuda; 2) it
falsely represented that 7ZCM MFC, and subsequently
ZCM Bermuda, would have all the rights and
privileges that normally accompany sole ownership;
3) it failed to disclose the existence of a
discriminatory redemption policy; and 4} it failed to
disclose that ZCM's share interest wetre not

redesmable  in  accordance with the Offering
Memoranda because Oceanic and Rahming intended
to retain control over them, They further allege that
7CM MFC and ZCM Bermuda would not have
accepled the assignment of, or purchased, the M.J
Selcol securities il they had known the true facts or
the existence of the omitted facts. These allegations
sufficiently state a mistcpresentation in Count 1L
Although Rahming characterizes this letter as "a
perfunctory two-sentence form letter” that does not
contain any misrcpresentations, that issue is mol
properly decided at this stage of the litigation.

Rahming, relying on Chigrella v. United States, 445
1.8, 222, 228 100 &.Ct 1108 63 L.Ed.2d 348
(1980), argues that she did not have a duty to disclose
the allcgedly omitted information in the assignment
recognition letter. Such a duty arises if a defendant
makes a statement that would be misleading without
disclosing certain other information. "1f one gpeaks,
he must speak the whole truth." Stransky v. Cumming
Engrine Co., Inc, 51 [.3d 1329, 1331 (7th Cir.1995)
(citations omitied). ZCM allcges that Rahming made
certain representations in the assignment agreemenl,
and therefore had a duty to disclose the omitted
information because such information was necessary
to make Rahming's statements not mislcading. At this
stagc, these allegations arc sufficient lo survive a
motion to dismiss,

2. Scienter

Rahming also argues that Plaintiffs have failed to
adequately plead scienter in Count L1 Plaintiffs mnst
"stale with particularity facts giving rise to a strong
inference that the defendant acted with the required
state of mind" 15 USC. &  73u-4(b)(?2} (2000).
Plaintiffs may use "motive and oppormunity” or
"eircumstantial evidence” to establish scienter under
the PSILRA, as long as the allegations suppert a
strong inference that the defendants acted tecklessly
or knowingly when they made the alleged
misreprescntations, 766347 Oniariv Led_v. Zurich
Cupital  Mkts, e 249 F.Supp.2d 974, 987
(N.DIL2003Y. See also Chu v. Sobrarek Corp., 100
F.Supp.2d 815, 823 (N.D.IIL2000Y.

ZCM allcges that Rahming knmew or recklessly
disregarded the falsity of thc misrepresentations
becanse she knew that Defendant Michael Coplianese
and representatives of Martin James controlled the
redecmptions of share intercsts, she had followed cach
and every dircetion of Coglianese and Martin James
regarding redemption payments without questioning
whether such redemptions complied with  M.J
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Select's Offering Memorandum, and she  had
authorized payments from M.]. Seleel's account at
Coglianese's direction without approval from Oceanic
ot Martin James. 7ZCM also allcges that Rahming had
a motive to make the alleged misrepresentations and
omissions because she "had the opportunity Lo realize
monetary gains from these investments.”

*14 These scienter allegations focus primarily on the
alleped omissions in the assignment recognition
fetier. They fail to give rise to a strong infercace that
Rahming knew or recklessly disrcgarded the alleged
misrepresentations regarding recognizing ZCM MFC
as the sole owner of the shares wilh all of the rights
and privileges that normally accompany such
ownership. Plaintiffs do not allege with any
particularity how Rahming knew in May 2000 that
statements about ZCM Bermuda's ownership rights
were false. Furthermore, as Rahming points oul,
ZCM has not alleged with any particularity how
increasing the investments of M.J. Select would
motivate Rahming when Oceanic received a flat
45,000 fec per vear for its administrative services.

FM4

With regard to the omission regarding the alleged
discriminatory redemption policy, ZCM also has not
alleged facts that satisfy the scienter requirements
regarding Rahming. Accordingly, Count Il is
dismissed without prejudice.

B. Control Person Liability (Count 111}

In Count III, 7ZCM alleges that Oceanic, Tahming
and Clowes were control persons pursuant to Section
20(a) of the Exchange Act. [TN3] In order 10 allege a
Scction 20(2) claim, Plaindiffs must allege (1) a
primary sccurities violation; (2) each of the
individual defendants cxercised general control over
the operations of M.1. Select; and (3) gach of the
individual defendants "possessed the power ot ability
to contral the specific transaction or activity upon
which the primary violation was predicated, whether
or not that power was cxercised.” [Hurrison v. Dean
Witter Reymolds, Inc.. 974 F2d 8§73, 881 (7th
Cir.1992), Rule 9(bYs particularily requircments
apply to Count IIL

1. General Control

The Oceanic Defendants challenge Plaintiffs’
allegations of general and specific control. (Gencral
control requires ZCM to allege that the Occanic
Defendants "actually participated in, that is, exercised
control over, the operations of [M.J. Select] n

general.” Harrison v. Dean Witter Revaolds, fne, 79
F.3d 609, 614 (Tth Cir.1996). Defendants correctly
point out that alleging mere titles does not suffice to
establish control porson liability. ZOCM's allegations,
however, go beyond mere titles, ZCM alleges that
Oceanic had the power to appoint and did appoint
M.]. Selcel's entire Board of Directors. They contend
that Oceanic issued account and financial statements
for M.J. Select. ZCM also alleges that Oceanic had
the responsibility for processing all subscriptions,
redemptions, transfers and assignments of M.l
Select's shares and issuing monthly financial
statements, had the authority to request checks drawn
on M.J. Selects bank accounts and direct wire
transfers from such accounts to redesm shares, had
the authority to refuse to comply with redemption
requests, and had the power (o place (and in fact
placed) M.J. Select into liquidation. These allegations
satisfy ZCM's burden regarding Oceanic's peneral
control over MLT. Select,

*15 Regarding Rahming and Clowes, ZCM alleges
that they served as directors of M.J. Selcet from 1999
forward, Rahming requested legal opinions for ML
Select, issued account and financial stalements, and
issped  audited financial statements confirming
fraudulent results. ZCM alleges that Ratuning had the
authority to place M.J. Select into liquidation and to
delegate  M.J. Select's business affairs. These
allegations particularize Rahming's general control
aver the operations of M.J. Select.

In addition to being an M.J Seleet director, ZUM
alleges that Clowes was the Chief Operating Officer
of Oceanic. ZCM alleges that Clowes maintained a
correspondent bank account on behalf of MLI. Select
in the United States and directed the wire transfer of
funds through this bank account. Plaintiffs contend
that Clowes communicated frequently with Michacl
Coglianese regarding the daily operations of M.J.
Sclept, issucd account and fimancial statements to
M.J. Select's shareholders, and issued andited
financial statements confirming fraudulent results.
ZCM has alleged Clowes' general control over M.J.
Seleel's operations.

The Oceanic Defendants ask the Court to consider a
declaration from Deflendant Clowes regarding
Occanic’s tole as administrator. At the motion to
dismiss stage, the Court cannot consider  this
information.

2. Specific Control

ZCM allcges that the Occanic Defendants had
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specific control over M.J. Select's offering docurnents
that arc the focus of the alleged primary violation in
Count III. ZCM does not allege that any of the
Oceanic Defendants drafted M.I. Sclect's Offering
Memoranda. Instead, ZCM contends that the Oceanic
Defendants had the power and ability to suspend the
operations of M.I. Select unless it corrected the false
statements in M.J. Select's Offering Memoranda or
discontinucd their use in soliciting new investors,
They allege that Rahming and Clowes, as sole
directors of M.J. Sclect, had this control. 7CM
allcges that cach of the Oceanic Defendants had the
power to control the day-to-day operations of ML
Select which gave them control over the Offering
Memoranda, ZCM  also contends that Occanic,
Rahming, and Clowes had the statutory and common
faw duty under Bahamian law to require the issuance
of coructed offering documents. The QOceanic
Defendants argue that the Administration Agreerent
did not give them the authority to do so. This
contention, however, raises an issue of fact that is not
appropriate for the Court to resolve al this stage.
ZCM has met its pleading burden.

VII. Illinois Securities Law (Count VII)

Count VII allcges that Qeeanic violated the Lllinois
Securities Law of 1953 (the "Act"). 3 ILCS 5/1-5/1%
{2002). The Act provides that "|c]very sale of a
security made in violation of the provisions of this
Act shall be voidable at the election of the putchaser

_and the issuer, controlling person, underwriter,
dealer or other person by or on hehalf of whom said
sale was made, and each underwriter, dealer, or
salcsperson who shall have participated or aided in
any way in making the sale ... shall be jointly and
severally liable to the purchascr.” 813 ILCS S/13A.
Oceanic must fall within the definition of an "issuer,
controlling person, underwritcr, dealer or other
person by or on behalf of whom said sale was madc”
or that of an "underwriter, dealer or salesperson” who
participated in the sale. ZCM alleges that Oceanic is
a "controlling person” or a “primary violator."
(ceanic argues that because it merely scrved as the
administrator of M.J. Select, it cannot be held liable
us either a principal violator or a control person under
the Act.

*16 The Act defines a "controlling person” as "any
person offering or selling a security, or group of
persons acting in concert in the offer or sale of a
security, owning beneficially ... either (i) 25% or
more of the outstanding voling securities of the issuer
of such security” or {ii} "such number of outstanding
securitics of the issuer of sach security as would

enable such person, or group of persons, 10 elect a
majority of the board of directors or other managing
body of such issuer. 815 [1.CS 5/2.4. "[Ulnlike the
1934 Exchange Act, where ‘controlling persons’ may
be read broadly to reach many parties, the Illinois Act
has been applied only to persons playing ‘central and
spovialized roles." ' Carlson v, Bear, Stearns & _Co,
Inc., 906 F.2d 315, 318 (7th Cir,1990) {citation
omitted). Moreover, "[wlhile overt action by a
menther of a controlling group would not always be
requircd, there must be some showing of asseni,
approval or concutrence, atbeit tacit approval, in the
action of the group in selling securities, before an
individual will be held liable for the actions of the
controlling group. A person is not liable merely
because onc can add his shareholding onto the
holdings of a controlling group and they atill remain a
controlling group. Sorae connection with the sale, or
decision to sell, securities is requircd under the
statute...." Frochlich v_Matz, 93 (IL.App.3d 398, 406,
48 TlL.Dec. 781, 788, 417 N.F.2d 183, 190 (1981).

ZCM does not allege that Oceanic owned any shares
in M.J. Selccl. Instcad, they argue that because
Occanic selected the directors for M.J. Select, the
Coutt can infer that it owned sufficient shares in M.1.
Sclect to do so. Based on the allegations in the
Amended Complaint, the Court will not make this
jumnp in logic. See Purtal v. Supreme Cr. of I, No.
03 C 6061, 2004 WL 542528 at 1 (N.D.], Feb.26,
2004}, Count VIT s dismissed without prejudice.

Oceanic correctly points out that the term "primary
violator” does not appear in the statute. ZCM does
not allege that Qccanic was an underwriter, issuer,
dealer or salesperson. They bave not satisfied the
pleading requircments.

VIIL Fraud and Conspiracy to Defraud (Counts VIII
and IX)

Count VIII alleges conmmon law fraud and Count XI
alleges a conspiracy to defraud. The Oceanic
Defendants seek o dismiss Counts VIIT and IX for
failure 1o plead fraud with the requisite patticularity
requited under Rule 3(b}.

The elements of a claim for fraud in Illinois are: (1)
a false statement of matcrial fact; (2) knowledge or
helief of the falsity by the party making the
statement; (3) intention to induce the other party to
act: (4) action by the other party in reliancc on the
truth of the statements; and (5) damage to the other
party resulting from such reliance. WIM, fnc. v,
Henneck, 125 E.Supp.2d 864, 869 (N.D.IH.2000).
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Plaintitfs have satisficd the mandates of Rulg 9(b)
with respeol to each of the Oceanic Defendants in
Count VIIL

*17 Regarding Count IX, in order to state a claim for

conspiracy to defraud in Illinois, ZCM must allege
"(1) a conspiracy; (2) an overt act of frand in
furtherance of the conspiracy; and (3) damages to the
plaintiff as a result of the fraud” Busak v,
McDonough, 192 WL.App.3d 799, 803, 139 LIl Dec.
917, 920. 549 N.E.2d 643, 646 (1989). The Court
agrces that the allepations in Count TX regarding
Defendants Qccande, Rahming and Clowes do not
meet Rule 9(b)'s particularity requirements. Count TX
is dismissed without prejudice.

VI Unjust Enrichment (Count X)

The Oceanic Defendants argue that the Court should
dismiss Count X because Plaintiffs have failed to
allege that they retained a benefit to Plaintffs’
detriment, The Court addressed this issue in its
August 2, 2004 Opinion, and denies the motion on
this basis,

In addition, the Oceanic Defendants argue that the
Court should dismiss the unjust cnrichment count
because Plaintiffs allege that an cxpress contract
govemns their relationship, and thus unjust enrichment
does not apply. Even if the the Oceanic Defendants’
premisc 1§ accurate, a plaintitf may plead in the
alternative. See Fed R.Civ.l, 8(e)2): Lickrel v. City
of Springfield, JH, 45 F3d 1115 1119 (7th
Cir.1995). If a contract did not cxist betwecn the
partics, then, assuming Defendants are correct,
Plaintiffs conld proceed on this count.

TX. Conversion (Count XT)

Plaintiffs allege conversion against Defendant
QOceanic in Count XI[. "A conversion is any
unauthorized act that deprives a person of his or her
or its property permanently or for an indefinite time."
Turner Investors v, Pirkd, 338 1LApp.3d 676, 681,
273 1ll.Dec. 423, 427, 789 N.E.2d 323, 327 (2003)
(citations omitted). In order lo state a claim for
conversion i Wlinais, Plaintifl must allege that (1) it
has a right to the property at issue; (2) it has an
absolute and unconditional right to the immediate
possession of that property, (3} 1t made a demand on
the defendant for possession of the property; and (4)
the defendant wrongfully and without authorization
assumed control, dominion, or ownership over the
property. Cirvincione v. Johnson, 184 111.2d 109, [14,
234 Ill.Dec. 455, 458, 703 N.L.2d 67, 70 (1998} As

explained by the Seventh Circuit, "[a]n asserted right
to money normally will not support a claim for
conversion, Only if the money at issue can be
described as 'specific chatiel,' ... in other words, ‘a
specific fund or specific money in coin or bills! ...
will conversion lie. Moreover, the plaintiff's right to
the money must be absolute, It must be shown that
the money claimed, or its equivalent, at all times
belonged to the plaintitf and that the defendant
converied it to his own use.” Horbach v. Kaczmarek,
288 F.3d 969, 978 (7th Cir.2002) {(citations and
quotations and emphasis omitted).

Herc, the money al issue was used to purchase sharc
intcrests in M1 Select, Plaintiffs' interesta did nol
represent the only purchased shares of M.J. Seleet.
Further, ZCM has not alleged that its interests were
separated in a specific fund from other interests in
M.J. Select, Tts interests, therefore cannot be deemed
specific for conversion purposes. See Fogel _v.
Gordon & Glickson, P.C., No. 03 € 1617, 2003 WL
22057194, at *3 (N.D.IN. Scpl.3. 2003). Count XI 13
dismissed.

X. Breach of Contract (Count XII)

*18 For the reasons set forth in the Court's August 2,
2004 Opinion, Count X11 stands,

XL Intentional Interference with Contract (Count
XII

In order to state a claim in Illineis for tortous
interference with a contract, a plaintiff must allege
the following elements: (1) the cxistence of a valid
and enforceable contract botween plaintiffs and
another, (2) the defendant's awareness of the contract;
(3) an intentional interference by the defendant
inducing breach of contract; (4) a breach of contract
caused by the defendant’s acts; and (5) damages to
the plaintiff. Smack v. Nolan, 361 F.3d 367, 372 (7th
Cir.2004). See alse Fielderest Buifders, Inc. v,
Antomucet, 311 TN App.3d 597, 611, 243 [l1.Dec. 740,
252, 724 N.E2d 40, 61 (1999). Plaintilfs have
alleged each of these elements. Count XTI stands.

XTI, Breach of Fiduciary Duty (Count X1V)

For the rcasons set forth in the Court's August 2,
2004 Opinion regarding Defendant Coglianese,
Count XTIV stands.

XILE. Breach of Contract (Coutit XVT)

Plaintiffs allege that Defendant Oceanic entered into
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a written contract with ZCM MFC on May 31, 2000
in which it promised to recognize ZCM MFC as the
sole owner of 100% of the shares that Martin James
had invested with them, and confirmed that ZACM
MFC would have all the rights and privileges that
accompany such ownership. ZCM MIC thereafter
teansferred its rights under this contract to ZCM
Berimuda, and Qceanic expressly recognized these
assignmets to ZCM Bermuda. Plaintills allege that
Oceanic breached this contract with ZCM Bermuda
by refusing to honor its valid rcdemption requests
and converting ZCM Bermmuda's interests in M.
Select at the request of Martin James. Plaintiffs
sulficiently allege a breach of contract claim based
on the May 31, 2000 assignment recognition
agresment.

XIV. Bahamian Law

ZCM premises Counts XVIT and XVIU on viclations
of Bahamian law. In Count XVII, ZCM Bermuda
alleges that the Cceanic Defendants violated the
Bahamian Mutual Funds Act, 1995, and regulations
thereunder. In Count XVIII, ZCM alleges that the
Oceaniic Defendants breached their comumon law duty
of care wunder Bahamian law. The Oceanic
Defendants argue that ZCM's Bahamian law claims
do not apply outside the Bahatmnas,

Regarding Count XVII, the Oceanic Defendants
argue that no legislaion is presumed to operate
outside the territorial jurisdiction of the country
enacting it. Although "under international law, a state
may not excreise authority to enforce law that it has
no jurisdiction lo prescribe,” Restatement (Third) of
Forcign Relutions Law & 431 (1987} {comment a),
for the purposes of this § 431, a "judgment of a court
awarding or denying damages in a civil action would
generally not be seen as enforcement." Restatement
{Third) of Forvign Relanons Taw § 431 (comment
b). Further, ZCM may raise, and this Court is
authorized to determine, an issue concerning the law
of a foreign country. FedR.Civ.P. 44.1; See, eg.,
Spinazzi v, ITT Sheraton Corp, 174 F3d 842 (7th
Cir.1999) (Mexican law govemed substanlive
tssues), Cummings v. Club Mediterrange, S, No.
01 € 6455, 2003 WL 22462625 (N.DU._Ool.29
2003) (court applied Bahamian law on all substantive
issues). Indeed, Vederal Rule of Civil Procedurc 44.1
provides that "“|a] parly who intends to raise an issue
concerning the law of a foreign country shall give
notice by pleadings or other rcasonable written
notice." This rule contemplates that federal courts can
entertain questions of forcign law. Accordingly,
ZCM may plead this cause of action.

*10 Count XVIII alleges that Oceanic breached its
cormon law duty of care. This cause of action is not
based in statute, but thc common law, Thus,
Oceanic's argument regarding statutory effect does
not apply to this cause of action. Additionally, as
discussed in the previous paragraph, this Court is
authorized to determine issucs ol foreign law.
Accordingly, ZCM may plead this cause of action.

CONCLUSION
The Oceanic Delendants' motion to dismiss s
granted in part and denied in part. Tt is granted with
respect to Count II. Count TT is dixmissed with
prejudice as o Oceanic, and without prejudice as to
Rahming. It is also granted without prejudice as to
Counts VII, 1X and XI. It is denicd as to Counts III,
VI, X, XUl through XV, XVII and XVIIL Plaintiffs
have until October 22, 2004 to fle a Second
Amended Complaint consistent with this opinion and
the Court's August 2, 2004 Opinion.

FNL See August 2, 2004 Opinion f[or a
compatison of the differcnt approaches the
Courts of Appeals have established
regarding the extent of conduct in the United
States that will trigger subject matter
jurisdiction over furcign securities fraud
claims. Zwrich Capital Markets Inc, v
Coglignese, No. 03 € 7960, 2004 WI.
1881782, at *29 n 10 (N.D.OI Aupr 2,
2004,

I'N2, As discussed below, the Court is
dismissing Count 11 against Oceanic with
prejudice  as  untimely, The Court is
dismissing Count II against Rahming
without prejudice for failure to state a claim.

FN3. This is nol inconsistent with the
Seventh Circuit's recent decision in Jennings
v, AC Hyvdraulic 475, Mo, 03-2157, 2004
WT. 19A5661, at *2 (7th Cir. Sept.2, 2004)
where the court concluded that “a
defendant’s maintenance of a puassive
website docs not support the exercisc of
personal jurisdiction over that defendant in a
particular forum just because the website
cai be accessed there” Here, Oceanic has an
"interactive"” wobsitc, not a passive one,
Although the Seventh Circuit has not
decided "what level of ‘interactivity' is
sufficient to establish personal jurisdiction
based on the operation of an interactive
website," i, Oceanic's interactive website,
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in combination with its numerous other
contacts with the United States, pives this
Court jurisdiction over it

W4, The flat fee of $5,000 per year for
adminisirative services is set forth in the
Administration Agreement. On this motion
to digrniss, the Cowrt can consider this
document becanse it is referred to in the
Amended Complaint and central to ZCM's
claims. Dans v Letter, 301 FoSupp.2d 350,
56 (N.I2LIL2004),

EN3. ZCM also named Coglianese in this
count, The Court addressed Coglianese in its
August 2, 2004 Opinion,

— F.8upp.2d -, 2004 WL 2191596 (N.D.IL), Fed.
Sco. L. Rep. P 92,926
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United States District Court, N.ID, Illinois, Eastern
Division.
Eunice DOHRA, Plaintiff,
.2

ALCON (PUERTOQ RICO), INC., Alcon

Laboratories, Inc., Alcon Pharmaceutical
I.aboratories, Inc., Lafayette Pharmacal, Inc.,

Lafayette Pharmaceutical, Ine.,
and Fastman Kodak Company, Defendants.
No, 92 C 2624,

March 3, 1994,
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
MAROQVICH, District Judge.

*1 Plaintiff Funice Dohra ("Dohra") filed suit
against Alcon (Puerto Rico), Inc. (MAlcon Puerto
Rico"), Alcom Laboratories, Ine. {"Alcon™), Alcon
Pharmaceutical Laboratories, Ine. {("Alcon
Pharmaceutical"), Lafayette  Pharmacal, Inc.
("Pharmacal™), Lafayeite Pharmaceutical, Inc,,
("Lafayeue™), and Eastman Kodak Company
{"Eastrman") (collectively "Defendants") alleging that
she was injured nearly eighteen years ago by a drug
commonly called "Pantopague" which was used in a
medical procedurs which was performed on her.
Dohra's three count Complaint alleges negligence,
sirict liability and breach of warranty respectively.
Defendants move to dismiss Counts 11 and I
claiming that these claims are time-barred under the
applicable statute of repose.  For the f{ollowing
reasons, we grant Defendants’ motion to dismiss.

ISCUSSION
Plaintiff Dohra asserts that she suffers from injures
as a result of an injection into her spine of a drug
called Pantopaque. This injection occurred nearly
twenty vears ago when Dohra had a diagnostic
procedure performed on her called a myelogram.
Recently, she discoversd that she suffers from a
condition called achriditis which is an inflammation
of the lining swrounding her spinal cord. She now

Page 1

sues the manufacturer of the drug and the drug's
distributors alleging negligence, strict liability and
breach of warranty.

Dohra  originally received this  injection of
Pantopaque  during a  procedure  performed  on
Scplember 6, 1974, She claims that she did not
discover her injury until March of 1990 and she then
filed her suit on March 25, 1992,

Product liability claims in [llinois are poverned by

the Illinois statute of repose which states in relevant

part:
{b) Subject to the provisions of subsections (¢} and
{d) no product liability action based on the doctrine
of striet liability in tort shall be commenced except
within the applicable limitations period and, in any
avenl, within 12 vears trom the date of the first
sale, lease or delivery of possession by a seller or
10 years from the date of the first sale, lease or
delivery of possession to its initial user, consumer
or other nonseller, whichever period cxpires
carlier....
(d) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection
(b} ... if the injury complained of oceurs within any
of the periods provided by subsection (b) ..., the
plaintiff may bring an action within 2 ycars after
the date on which the claimant knew, or through
the use of reasonable diligence should have known,
of the existence of the personal injury ..., but in ne
event yhall such action be brought more than 8
years after the date on which such personal infury
... pccurred.

T.C% 735 Section 5/13-215, (1992), This seotion of
the [iinois statutes 18 a statute of repose, not 4 stamte
of limitations. The distinction becomes critical when
we review the manner in which such statutes have
been interpreted.

For example, the Wllinois Sopreme Court recently
stated that:

#2 [A] period of repose pives effect wo a policy
different from that advanced by a period of
limitations; the period of repose i intended to
terminate the possibility of liability afier a defined
period of time, regardless of a potential plainiff's
lack of knowledge.

Cunningham v, Huffiman, 609 W.E2d 321, 325
(111.1993). When addressing this exact statute, this
Court has held that a definite time period exists in
which these strict liability claims should be brought:

& 2005 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.



Case: 1:02-cv-05893 Document #: 298 Filed: 09/16/05 Page 40 of 41 PagelD #:5219

Not Reported in F.Supp.
Not Reported in F.Supp., 1994 WL 71449 (N.D.I11)
(Cite as: 1994 WL 71449 (N.D.1IL))

The expansion of strict liability in recent decades
has shifted much of the liability for faultless
injuriea to the injurer.  The Ilinois legislature
enacted § 13-213 in order to shift some of the
burden back to the injured by establishing a date
certain beyond which injuries resulting from a
product will not rise to strict lability claims.
Tavior v. Ruymond Corporation, 719 F.8upp. 738,
742 (N.DUL198Y), affd 8090 T.2d 225 (7th
Cir. 1990,

Under § 13-213(b), claims are time-barred unless
they are brought within the "earlier of (1) 12 years
from the date of the first sale, and (2) 10 years from
the date of the first sale to the initial user,” Id. at 742
Dohra's myelogram was performed on September 6,
1974,  Obviously, the Pantopaque had been sold to
the hospital by that time. Therefore, the statute of
repose began to run no later than September 6, 1974,
Dohra would then have ten years, or until September
6, 1984 within which to file her swit.  She filed,
however, in 1992, far outside that ten yvear period.

Section § 13-213(d) provides thal "in no event shall
[any striet lability] action be brought more than eight
years after the date on which such personal injury
occurred.”  This eight year repose period is "an
absolute cut-off point beyond which no action can be
brought regardless of whether the plaintiff knows of

the damage or not" Mcleish v. Sony Corp. of

America, 504 N.E.2d 933, 935 (Il App.Ct.)987).
Illinois courts have applied this eight year deadline in
cases which involve exposure to the drug DES and
exposure to  asbestos. Zimmerman v, Abbou
Luboratories, Tne, 545 N.E.2d 547 (1L App,Ct. 1985)
(DES); Olsvon v, Owens-Corning Fiberglass Corp.,
336 MNE2d 716, 716-719 {11 App.Ct.1990)
(asbestos).  In both cases, the plaintiff had been
exposed to the drug or the cancer-causing agent many
years prior to the manifestation or discovery of the
illness, but the courts held that the suits were time-
barred because they were not brought within the eight
year time period alter exposure,

Plaintiff alleges in response to the Defendants'
statutc of repose argument that the Defendanls
fraudulently concealed this cause of action from the
Plaintiff and that the action was brought within five
years of Plaintiff's discovery pursuant o 1LCS 735
Section 3/13-215.  Altermatively, even if this court
were not to apply the fraudulent concealment
proposition to the facts before it, Plaintiff asserts that
because she neither knew nor could have known of
her injury uatil March 19990, this Court should deny
the mation.
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*3 Plaintiff fails to cite any authority for the
proposition that fraudulent concealment tolls the
running of a statute of repose. In fact, fraudulent
concealment applies when a state law recognizes the
"discovery rule" in statute of limitations situations,
However, even Plaintiff's assertions that she filed her
claim within two yvears of March 1990, the date when
she first discovered her claim, fails to save her claim
from the applicable statute of repose.  Under that
statute, she must file within eight years of the date of

injury.

In this case, the date of injury would be the date of
the occurrence which gave rise (o her imjury,
specifically, the injection of the drug. Plaintiff
claims that her injury occutred when her injury
manifested itself and that her claim should (herefore
survive. However, the Illinois Appellate Court has
stated that for the purposes of the statute of reposc,
"injury” is the date upon which a plaintiff is exposcd
to the product in question, not the date that the
adverse effects of exposure manifest themselves,
Olson v, Owens Corning Fiberglasy Corp., 556
M.E2d 716 (1.App.Ct.1990).  In Olson, plaintiffs
were exposed to ashestoa from 1938 to 1974 and
1948 to 1972, They brought their suit in 1986. The
court held that the claims were time-barred under the
statute of repose, specifically section (d) of the same
Slatute we have in this matter. Although the court
recogmized that "an asbestos claim accrues upon its
discovery” of the injury, for the purpose of
calculating the statute of repose, the injury cccurs on
the: date of plaintift's exposure to asbestos. £ at 720).

The most recent Hlinois court to address the statte
of repose in a products liability case such as the one
here, applied the same reasoning to a plaintiffs claim
brought for injuries suffered from ingesting the drug
DES. Sporapany v. Rexall Corp., 618 N.E 2d 109%,
1102 (11 App.Ct.1993),  In that case, the Illinois
Appellate Court found that the plaintiff had ingested
DES in 1956 but failed to bring suit until 1986 and
therefore her claim was barred by the applicable 12
year statute of repose. fd

The purpose of a statute of repose is to allow for a
definite date by which plaimift's claim must be
brought. Taylor v. Ravmond Corp.. Ine.. 909 F.2d
225,227 (7th Cir.1990Y. The legislature intended "to
terminate the possibility of liability after a defined
period of time." Id.

Dohra filed her suit more than 12 years after
Pantopaque was first sold and she sued more than
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eight years after she was injured.  Tn keeping with
the legislative purpose of the applicable statute of
repose, and the case law in Illinois, Plaintiff's claim is
time-barred. We therefore dismiss Counts Il and 111
of Plaintiff's Complaint.
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